
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Wednesday, 7 September 2022 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Thursday, 15 September 2022 
beginning at 

6:30 pm 
in the 

Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Ian Corben (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Paul Bicknell 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
Councillor Tim Groves 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2022. 
 

4.   Recommendations from Committees  
 

5.   Approval of new Body Worn Video Policy (Pages 13 - 84) 
 

6.   Corporate KPI Review 2022/23 (Pages 85 - 102) 
 

7.   Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme 2022/23 (Pages 103 - 110) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 20 October 2022 at 6:30 pm 

In the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

 

CABINET 
 

Thursday, 7 July 2022  (6:30 pm – 7:07 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Corben, Craig, Groves and Kyrle 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Gomer, Bourne and Duguid  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bicknell and Pretty 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

116. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

117. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees. 
 

118. MOTION - COST OF LIVING CRISIS 
 
It was agreed to suspend Standing Order 10.1 and for the motion to be 
presented to Cabinet given the urgency. 
 
An amended motion was presented, debated by Councillors and agreed. 
 
Cabinet notes the impact of increased prices and taxation and that: 
 

a. On 1 April 2022, Ofgem increased the energy price cap by 54%, 

increasing the average standard tariff energy bill by £693 per year 

and the average pre-pay meter energy bill by £708 per year 

(Ofgem, 2022); 

b. The energy price cap is expected to rise by 42% in October; 

c. Latest ONS data shows average households are now spending 

more than £5,780 a year on food, drink and clothing, £425 more 

than a year ago. Meanwhile record petrol and diesel prices mean 

that a typical Eastleigh family re-filling their car twice a month pays 

an additional £620 a year; 

d. On 6 April 2022, the Government increased National Insurance by 

1.25%, which is projected to cost the average family in Eastleigh an 

additional £600 per year. 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 

e. The hit to families from soaring food and fuel prices is being 

practically doubled by an additional £638 in extra National 

Insurance, Income Tax and VAT this year; 

f. Inflation is currently at a 40-year high of 9.1% and expected to rise 

to 11% by October; 

g. So far Eastleigh Basics Bank has provided food for 1,188 people in 

2022 – 614 adults and 574 children, which is up by over one-third 

compared to pre-pandemic levels, and that other foodbanks in the 

Borough will have similar figures. The soaring cost of fuel and food 

will inevitably mean that many of our local residents will face a 

tough time in the months ahead; and 

h. While the Government has announced it will reinstate the triple lock 

for pensions next year, by suspending it for 2022/3, Eastleigh’s 

19,437 pensioners will see a rise of 3.1% this year (instead of 8.3% 

under the triple lock formula) costing pensioners in Eastleigh 

hundreds of pounds. 

 
Cabinet further notes the decision taken in June 2022 to impose a 
‘Windfall Tax’ on the super-profits of oil and gas companies and to 
redistribute this as a one-off payment of £400 to households later this 
year.  Cabinet notes that the Windfall Tax was first proposed by Sir Ed 
Davey MP, Leader of the Liberal Democrats, in January 2022.  Cabinet 
welcomes the Windfall Tax, but believes it does not go nearly far enough 
and the Government should be doing much more to support local people 
through the Cost of Living crisis. 
 
Given the urgency of the situation, Cabinet acts on behalf of Eastleigh 
Borough Council in declaring a ‘Cost of Living Emergency’ and calls on the 
Government to: 
 

1. Immediately reduce the standard rate of VAT from 20% to 17.5% 

for one year, saving the average household in Eastleigh a further 

£600 this year; 

2. Immediately re-introduce the pensions triple lock to support 

Eastleigh pensioners; 

3. Immediately restore the Universal Credit supplement of £20, which 

was cancelled by the Government in September 2021; and 

4. Immediately change taxation on fuel to transfer the risk of price 

changes to the Government with fuel prices pegged at long-term 

average prices.  

 
Cabinet asks the Chief Executive to send a copy of this motion to the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer and the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions. 
 
Cabinet further notes the long-term benefits to residents through the 
Council’s  
19-year record of setting Council Tax at 1% below CPI each year and 
commits to continue this policy to help tackle the regressive nature of 

4



3 
 

 

Council Tax, and commits to review the local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme in light of the Cost of Living Emergency. 
 
Cabinet further notes the increasing demand on food banks and looks to 
continue to support our local communities and voluntary sector to work 
towards an outcome where foodbanks are not needed in what is still one 
of the world’s richest countries. 
 
Cabinet resolves that it will seek to consider the Cost of Living Emergency 
in policy and financial decisions. 
 
 
 

119. DEFRA 21-22 AIR QUALITY GRANT SCHEME AWARD 
 
Issue 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has a statutory duty to monitor air 
quality and produce an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for the four 
declared Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) across the Borough. 
The Council’s AQAP 2020-2025 was adopted in February 2020. (Paper 7) 
 
Consideration 
 
This grant funded project will help deliver the AQAPs aspiration to reduce 
the exposure of people in the Borough to poor air quality. 
 
Cabinet asked about reporting at a local level and agreed it is important 
that air quality is discussed at a local level and at Local Area Committees 
(LAC).  Cabinet asked that data is continued to be provided to LACs. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approved the use of the DEFRA Air Quality Grant fund 
of £132,932. 
 

120. PHOSPHATE MITIGATION STRATEGY 
 
Issue 
 
The Council has an established nutrient neutrality mitigation scheme to 
address the impact of nitrates generated from the wastewater from new 
housing development and development that generates overnight 
accommodation in the Solent catchment. Following a review of the 
evidence, Natural England launched new guidance in March 2022 advising 
that mitigation is now also required to address the impact of phosphates in 
the River Itchen catchment area. The Habitats Regulations place the 
responsibility on the Council as Competent Authority to ensure when 
permitting new residential development and development that provides for 

5



4 
 

 

overnight accommodation, that there is no net increase in phosphates 
reaching the internationally designated River Itchen ensuring phosphate 
neutrality is maintained. If the Council as the Competent Body cannot 
ensure phosphate (and nitrate) neutrality, the proposed development 
should not be permitted as it would be a breach of Regulation 63 of The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (Amendment) (EU Exit) 
2019 (as amended). Broadly, qualifying development is within the 
catchment that extends approximately from West End / Hedge End north 
to include the 
northern part of the borough. 
 
Consideration 
 
A proposed Interim Phosphate Mitigation Strategy has been developed to 
avoid “loading” additional phosphates into the river and to enable planning 
permissions to be granted. The interim strategy will be reviewed in 6 
months and will be in place until a longer term solution is developed. The 
Interim Strategy has three main strands: 

 on-site mitigation using Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS); 

 sale of phosphate credits currently available from taking land out of 
agricultural use, using the Council’s strategic land acquisitions; 

 future sale of credits from wetland creation. A feasibility study is 
proposed to consider the creation of new wetlands to inform a 
longer term solution. 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approved: 
 
(1)  an Interim Phosphate Mitigation Strategy allowing developers 

to purchase credits at a cost of £4,500 + VAT per dwelling to 
address the environmental impacts of phosphates arising from 
new development within, and draining into Wastewater 
Treatment Works in, the River Itchen Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) catchment area. 

(2)  Capital Expenditure of up to £200,000 for a feasibility study, to 
be funded from revenue income from the sale of Phosphate 
Credits, for the creation of new wetlands on Council-owned 
land as a longer-term strategy, subject to undertaking 
monitoring, detailed design and the development of a business 
case. 

 
121. RESPONSE TO HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTATION ON 

PASSENGER TRANSPORT AND CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL 
 
Issue 
 

6



5 
 

 

Hampshire County Council (HCC) is consulting residents and other 
stakeholders on options for finding £800,000 of savings to supported 
passenger transport services and the concessionary travel scheme by: 

 making operational changes to supported passenger transport 
services (including supported bus services, Dial-a-Ride, Call & Go, 
Taxishare and Minibus Group hire services); 

 removing some enhancements to the Concessionary Travel 
Scheme currently funded by the County Council; 

 increasing the contributions users pay for some services; and 

 changes to back-office functions (which are not covered by the 
consultation). (Paper 9) 

 
Consideration 
 
Currently HCC invests the following into Passenger Transport services: 

 £3.5 million per year on supporting passenger transport services 
made up of: 

o £2,077,145 for local bus services; 
o £416,952 for Dial a Ride, Call & Go and shopper services; 
o £205,428 for Taxishare Services; 
o £212,174 towards Minibus Group Hire Schemes; 
o with the balance being spent on publications, passenger 
information,infrastructure, maintenance and training. 

 £329,000 per year on discretionary enhancements to the 
Concessionary Travel scheme for Hampshire residents. 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet agreed the Council’s response to Hampshire County 
Council’s ‘Supported Passenger Transport and Concessionary Travel 
Consultation’ attached at Appendix 1.  
 

122. RESPONSE TO HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S LOCAL 
TRANSPORT PLAN 4 CONSULTATION 
 
Issue 
 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) has consulted residents and other 
stakeholders on the proposed Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4), which will 
replace the existing LTP3 to provide a framework to guide all future 
transport planning and investment. 
 
The Council’s response has been agreed by the Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio holder for Transport under delegated powers due to the 
consultation deadline falling before this Cabinet meeting date. (Paper 10) 
 
Consideration 
 

7



6 
 

 

Hampshire County Council (HCC) has a statutory requirement to have a 
Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) which sets out its vision for future transport and 
travel 
infrastructure. LTP4 will replace the current Local Transport Plan (LTP3) 
which was developed in 2011, which is considered no longer relevant to 
meet 
modern challenges and opportunities. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet noted the response to Hampshire County Council’s 
‘Local Transport Plan 4 Consultation’ attached at Appendix 1. 
 

123. CORPORATE COMPLAINTS POLICY 
 
Issue 
 
The Corporate Compliments, Comments and Complaints Policy outlines 
how The Council will deal with customer compliments and complaints, and 
a separate policy for dealing with Unreasonably Persistent Complainants 
and Unreasonable Complainant Behaviour. (Paper 11) 
 
Consideration 
 
The Council’s Compliments, Comments and Complaints policies set out 
the way in which customer complaints and other feedback will be treated 
and acted upon. The policies reflect the Council’s aim to engage with 
customers to continually improve services, dealing with complaints 
consistently and fairly. 
 
Cabinet agreed to amend the second bullet point of the Customer 
Complaints Policy (page 80) to remove examples and agreed complaints 
about Policy should be directed to Councillors in the first instance. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approved: 

(1)  the revised and updated Customer Care Compliments, 
Comments and Complaints Policy subject to the amendment 
above; and 

(2)  the Unreasonably Persistent Complainants and Unreasonable 
Complainant Behaviour Policy. 

 
124. COUNCILLORS ALLOWANCES 2021/22 - ACTUAL AMOUNTS PAID 

 
Issue 
 

8



7 
 

 

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 require 
that every authority publicise, within its area, the sum paid by it in that year 
under the scheme to each Councillor and co-opted member in respect of 
basic allowance, special responsibility allowance, dependents' carers 
allowance, travelling and subsistence allowance. (Paper 12) 
 
Consideration 
 
It is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
Regulations 2003 that the actual allowances paid relating to basic 
allowance, special responsibility allowance, dependents' carers allowance, 
travelling and subsistence allowance are published in the local press. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(1) That Cabinet note the allowances paid in 2021/22 contained in 
Appendix 1 to this report;  

(2) That in future this report be presented to the Administration 
Committee, who are responsible for proposing changes to the 
Councillor Allowances Scheme; and 

(3) That the constitution be updated at the next review to support 
the change above and approval sought from Council. 

 
125. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING 

 
Issue 
 
The Council is reporting a provisional financial position for 2021/22 as a 
total net favourable variance against the Rolling Budget of £463,000. 
(Paper 13) 
 
Consideration  
 
Capital expenditure for financial year 2021/22 was £48.2M compared to 
the Rolling Budget for the year of £48M. The understanding of both 
elements of monitoring enables a full picture of the Council for 2021/22. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(1)  noted the performance of the Council for 2021/22 and the 

Council’s provisional financial position for the year and 
consider any recommendations from Policy and Performance 
Scrutiny Panel; 

(2)  noted the performance of the Community Investment 
Programme (Appendix C); 

(3)  approved additional capital expenditure for the Lakeside 
Community Facilities of £313,000 to be funded from borrowing, 

9



8 
 

 

with the borrowing costs of £13,000 per annum to be financed 
from revenue growth. 

(4)  approved additional capital expenditure for Bandstand Court 
of £617,000 to be funded from borrowing, with the revenue 
costs being met by additional income. 

(5)  noted the Treasury Management Outturn Position as at 31 
March 2022 (Appendix O); 

(6)  approved transfers to and from reserves as per Appendix P. 
 

126. EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and 

 
(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 

interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption. 

 
127. POST OFFICE REDEVELOPMENT 

 
Issue 
 
To consider Post Office Redevelopment (Paper 15)  
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to Post Office 
Redevelopment. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

128. PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Issue 
 
To consider a property transaction (Paper 16)  
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to a property transaction. 

10



9 
 

 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

129. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 May 2022 be agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

130. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday, 15 September 2022  

APPROVAL OF COUNCIL'S CORPORATE POLICY AND 
PROCEDURES FOR THE USE OF BODY WORN VIDEO DEVICES 

Report of the Legal Services Manager 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that   
 
(1) Cabinet approves the adoption of the ‘Corporate Policy and Procedures for 

the use of Body Worn Video Devices’, which sets out the statutory framework 
and procedures which permit the Council’s lawful use of this overt 
surveillance technique to assist staff in carrying out their duties. 

 

Summary 
 
The Corporate Policy and Procedure for the use of Body Worn Video Devices (BWV 
Policy) (Annex 1) facilitates the Council’s use of BWV in carrying out its duties. The policy 
sets out the statutory framework and procedures that permit the Council’s lawful use of this 
overt surveillance technique, whilst ensuring the Council complies with all relevant 
legislation and does not infringe a person’s rights under Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 (HRA), except as may be permitted by Article 8(2).  Consequently, a public authority 
(Eastleigh Borough Council) can act in a way that is compatible with the European 
Convention on Human Rights 1950 (EHCR) and Human Rights Act 1998, whilst also 
ensuring the personal and/or sensitive data obtained from the BWV devices are processed 
in accordance with the UK Data Protection statutory framework. 

Statutory Powers 
 
The primary statutory framework including Orders and guidance is as follows: 

 Human Rights Act 1998 

 European Convention on Human Rights 1950 

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Part 2 

 UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR) 

 Data Protection Act 2018  

 The Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 (amended November 2021) 

 The Information Commissioner’s Guidance on Video Surveillance 24/2/2022 

 Digital Imaging & Multimedia Procedure V3 16/11/2021 

 

13

Agenda Item 5



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The use of BWV will help Council staff carry out a number of duties that 
contribute to the Council meeting its Corporate Plan objectives. 

2. These duties, whilst not exhaustive, include: 

 Parking enforcement (Tackling Congestion); 

 Fly-Tipping investigation (Minimising Waste ; An Excellent Environment 
for All); 

 Animal Welfare; 

 Unauthorised encampments (An Excellent Environment for All); 

 Planning enforcement (Prosperous Place ; An Excellent Environment 
for All).  

 

Introduction 

3. This Corporate BWV Policy provides the statutory framework and the 
Council’s guidance for the use of overt surveillance camera systems, namely 
Body Worn Video (BWV) devices, whilst ensuring the public authority does not 
infringe a person’s Article 8 rights under the Human Rights Act 1998.  

4. The use of BWV by Eastleigh Borough Council authorised staff is intended to 
assist in the following: 

 Prevention and/or detection of crime and/or disorder; 

 Criminal and/or civil proceedings arising out of the incident/event; 

 De-escalation of a conflict/incident/event; 

 The protection of staff who are acting in the course of their council duties; 

 Dispute resolution, for example, complaints against staff; 

 Supporting the emergency services whilst undertaking their duties; 

 Counter-Terrorism (Prevent Duty); 

 Staff development training as to best practices; 
 
5. There are a wide variety of benefits to using BWV technology that are more 

particularly described in paragraph 7 of the policy attached at annex 1. For 
information, the list of annexes is included at the end of this report. 

 

Audit and Resources Committee Recommendations  

6. The BWV Policy was taken to Audit and Resources Committee on 19 July 
2022. The Policy was recommended for Cabinet approval subject the following 
amendments which have been implemented: 

 Staff User Guide: The BWV Policy is a very comprehensive document. 
It was recommended that the procedures were extracted from the 

14



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

policy to provide a staff user guide, that was easier to understand and 
follow for Authorised BWV Users. This can be found in Annex 3   

 Training: Ensure the Policy and Staff User Guide explicitly identified the 
need for Officer training prior to using BWV.  

 Health and Safety: Ensure policy was reviewed by the Councils Health 
and Safety Officer, with any resulting recommendations actioned. This 
has been completed and the relevant wording in the policy has been 
amended accordingly.    

Financial Implications 

7.  Body Worn Video is already used by the Council’s Parking Operations team. 
The Council currently owns 12 BWV cameras and the necessary software to 
facilitate its use in compliance with the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. 
An additional six cameras and an associated docking station have been 
purchased using grant funding secured via Defra’s Waste and Resources 
Action Programme (WRAP), at a cost of  £3,600. There will be periodic capital 
equipment replacement costs that will be shared proportionately by the service 
areas using the BWV equipment to carry out their duties.        

 

Risk Assessment 

8.  The adoption of this Policy and Procedure enables the Council to realise the 
benefits of BWV when carrying out its duties, whilst ensuring that its staff and 
the rights of the public are protected by complying with the relevant legislation. 

9. Correct adoption of the policy and its procedures will ensure any risks 
associated with the use of this overt surveillance system are suitably 
mitigated, as it will be operated in full compliance with the relevant guidance 
and legislation.  

10. To ensure the health and safety of Council staff, each department has specific 
Risk Assessments and Safe Systems of Work (SSOW) for the duties they 
undertake within their roles.  These are reviewed at least annually and 
updated as required, in accordance with the Council’s overarching Health & 
Safety Policy. If the Policy is approved by Cabinet, risk assessments and 
SSOW shall be updated accordingly by the areas using BWV going forward.   

Equality and Diversity Implications 

11. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision and an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and attached to the report (See 
Annex 7). In summary the EqIA identifies that: 

-The primary consideration of the EqIA in the context of BWV use, is the 
protection of a person’s Article 8 rights under the Human Rights Act 1998 – 

15



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

their right to respect for their private and family life, their home and their 
correspondence.  

12. The BWV Policy and Procedure follows the Surveillance Camera Code of 
Practice and sets out the Council procedures for use of BWV to protect 
people’s right to privacy, and also ensure that the personal and/or sensitive 
data obtained from the BWV devices is processed in accordance with the UK 
Data Protection statutory framework. 
 

 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

13. The proposals have limited climate change and environmental implications, 
although the use of BWV will help the Council effectively and efficiently carry 
out some of its statutory powers related to protecting the environment, such as 
investigation and enforcement against fly-tipping offences and planning 
enforcement matters.    
 

Conclusion 

14. The use of BWV has a number of wide-ranging benefits for staff in carrying out 
their duties. The approval of the ‘Corporate Policy and Procedure for the use 
of Body Worn Video’ will enable the Council’s lawful use of this overt 
surveillance technique in accordance the current legislation, whilst protecting 
the public’s right to privacy.   

 

HELEN DEVEREUX  
LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER  

 
Date: 23 August 2022 
Contact Officer: Harry Lee, Project Manager   
Tel No: 07468708000 
e-mail: harry.lee@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 7 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Annexes  included in this report; 

1. Annex 1_Body Worn Video Policy 
2. Annex 2_BWV Policy Appendices 1-8 
3. Annex 3_BWV Policy Appendix 5 - BWV Staff User Guide 

16



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

4. Annex 4_BWV Policy Appendix 6 – BWV Third Party Data Sharing Register 
5. Annex 5_BWV Policy Appendix 7 – BWV SAR Checklist 
6. Annex 6_BWV Policy Appendix 8 – BWV Training Register 
7. Annex 7_Equality Impact Assessment  

 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
 

 
EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CORPORATE POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

 
BODY WORN VIDEOS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version 2 – August 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



2 
 

INDEX 
 

SECTION CONTENTS 
 

PAGES (to be 
completed upon 
document approval) 

 INTRODUCTION & KEY MESSAGES  

 COUNCIL POLICY STATEMENT  

 BODY WORN VIDEO KEY BENEFITS & INTENDED USES  

 BENEFITS OF USING BODY WORN VIDEOS   

 INTENDED USES OF BODY WORN VIDEOS  

 BODY WORN VIDEO STATUTORY FRAMEWORK  

 SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODE OF PRACTICE   

 DEFINITION OF SURVEILLANCE   

 TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE  

 OVERT SURVEILLANCE  

 COVERT SURVEILLANCE   

 SURVEILLANCE CAMERA SYSTEMS   

 SYSTEM OPERATOR  

 SYSTEM USER  

 BODY WORN VIDEO  

 AUTHORISED OFFICERS   

 PUBLIC PLACE  

 RELEVANT AUTHORITY  

 FIRST MANDATORY TEST - IN PURSUIT OF A LEGITIMATE AIM  

 SECONED MANDATORY TEST – NECESSITY  

 THIRD MANDATORY TEST – PROPORTIONATE  

 SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODES OF PRACTICE  

 12 GUIDING PRINCIPLES  

1 SPECIFIED PURPOSE  

2 EFFECT ON INDIVIDUALS & PRIVACY  

3 TRANSPARENCY  

4 CLEAR RESPONSIBILITY & ACCOUNTABILITY  

5 RULES, POLICIES & PROCEDURES  

6 STORAGE  

7 RESTRICTED ACCESS  

8 STANDARDS  

9 SECURITY MEASURES  

10 REVIEW & AUDIT  

11 SUPPORT  

12 ACCURACY  

 STATUTORY FRAMEWORK FOR PROCESSING PERSONAL 
DATA BY VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS 

 

 CONTROLLER  

 LAWFUL BASIS   

 SPECIAL CATEGORY & CRIMINAL CONVICTION DATA  

 NECESSARY  

 PROPORTIONATE  

 PERSONAL DATA   

 SPECIAL (SENSITIVE) DATA  

 BIOMETRIC DATA  

20



3 
 

 ACCOUNTABILITY   

SECTION CONTENTS 
 

 

 DATA PROTECTION BY DESIGN & DEFAULT  

 PROCESSING RECORDS   

 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT   

 PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA   

 FAIR PROCESSING OF DATA   

 RETENTION  

 RETENTION PERIOD  

 RETENTION CHECKS  

 STORAGE OF DATA  

 RESTRICTED ACCESS & DATA ENCRYPTION  

 DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES FOR HANDLING DIGITAL 
IMAGES &  
EVIDENCE 

 

 SECURITY MEASURES  

 DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES FOR HANDLING DIGITAL 
IMAGES & EVIDENCE 

 

 PERIODIC REVIEW OF SYSTEM  

 DELETION/DISPOSAL  

 PRIVACY INFORMATION  

 TECHNICAL GUIDANCE FOR BODY WORN VIDEO 
DEVICES  

 

 STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT  

 DURABILITY  

 INTEGRITY  

 DATA TRANSFER TO BACK OFFICE SYSTEM  

 VIDEO DATA  

 STILL IMAGES  

 REUSABLE MEMORY  

 NETWORK  

 BODY WORN VIDEO PROCESS  

 UNIFORM  

 START OF SHIFT PROCEDURE   

 MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT   

 DECISION TO RECORD AN INCIDENT   

 GENERAL PATROLLING  

 AUDIO RECORDING  

 WHEN TO START RECORDING   

 VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO RECORDING  

 RECORDING OF AN INCIDENT  

 BUFFER RECORDING  

 SELECTIVE CAPTURE  

 BOOKMARKING  

 VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO ENDING RECORDING  

 BWV IN PRIVATE DWELLINGS  

 WITNESS FIRST ACCOUNTS  

 SCENE REVIEW & PREMISES SEARCHING  

21



4 
 

 

 LIMITATIONS ON USE 
 
 

 

SECTION CONTENTS 
 

PAGES 

 END OF SHIFT   

 SAFEGUARDS FOR BODY WORN VIDEO DATA  

 DATA RECORDED BY BWV DEVICES   

 CONSEQUENCES OF LOST BWV DATA   

 USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE  

 MASTER COPY  

 WORKING COPY  

 AUDIT TRAILS  

 PLAYBACK  

 CONTINUITY  

 PREPARATION OF A PROSECUTION FILE  

 EVIDENTIAL STATEMENTS   

 TECHNICAL FAILURE  

 EXHIBITS  

 TRANSCRIPTS   

 REDACTIONS  

 COPIES   

 DATA SHARING REGISTER  

 DATA SHARING WITH THE MEDIA  

 PROVIDING COPIES/DISTRIBUTING BWV DATA   

 SERVICE OF BWV PRODUCT   

 SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST  

 THE RIGHT OF ERASURE  

 THE RIGHT OF RESTRICTION OF PROCESSING  

 SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS   

 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS  

 EXEMPTIONS TO FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS  

 UNLAWFUL DISCLOSURE TO THIRD PARTIES  

 DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS   

 ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS  

 HEALTH & SAFETY  

 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY  

 OVERSIGHT  

 APPROVAL OF POLICY  

 ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICY  

 INTERNAL MONITORING  

 COMPLAINTS  

 TRAINING  

 THE INFORMATION COMMISSIONER  

 THE BIOMETRICS & SURVEILLANCE COMMISSIONER  

 MISCELLANEOUS  

 POLICY REVISION HISTORY   

   

22



5 
 

 

 

APPENDICES 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION APPENDIX 
 

1 LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER 

2 BWV AUTHORISED OFFICERS 

3 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT TEMPLATE FOR 
SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS 

4 BWV OFFICERS 

5 BWV STAFF USER GUIDE  

6 BWV THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING REGISTER 

7 BWV SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS 

8 TRAINING REGISTER 

  

23



6 
 

 

INTRODUCTION & KEY MESSAGES 
 

1. This policy sets out the statutory framework and procedures which permit the Council’s lawful 
use of the overt surveillance technique known as Body Worn Videos (BWV). 

 
2. The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) gave effect in UK law to the rights of individuals enshrined 

in the European Convention on Human Rights 1950 (ECHR). Some rights are absolute whilst 
others are qualified, thus is it permissible for the state to interfere with those rights, 
provided certain conditions are satisfied.  One of those rights is a person’s right to respect 
for their private and family life, home, and correspondence.1  When public authorities seek 
to obtain private information about a person by means of overt surveillance, Article 8 is the 
most likely to be engaged, which may also give rise to issues under Article 6 (right to a fair 
trial). 

 
3. This Corporate BWV Policy provides the statutory framework and the Council’s guidance as to 

the use of overt surveillance camera systems, namely Body Worn Video devices, whilst 
ensuring the public authority does not infringe a person’s Article 8 rights, except as may be 
permitted by Article 8(2). Consequently, a public authority can act in a way that is 
compatible with the ECHR and HRA.2 

 
4. This Policy has been approved by the Cabinet3 and in addition, the Audit & Resources 

Committee has an oversight role and carries out high level annual reviews of this Policy and 
processes. 

 
5. Any member of staff who is unsure regarding any aspect of this Policy and/or the statutory 

framework, must contact the Council’s Legal Services Manager4 at the earliest opportunity.  
Compliance with this Policy and Process is mandatory for all relevant Council services and 
officers.  This Policy is placed on the Council’s Staff Hub.5 

 

COUNCIL POLICY STATEMENT  
 

6. Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) takes its statutory responsibilities seriously and will always 
act in accordance with the statutory framework including relevant Orders, the Surveillance 
Camera Code of Practice, the Information Commissioner’s Guidance on Video Surveillance6 
and Digital Imaging & Multimedia Procedure V37  Accordingly, the Legal Services Manager is 
duly authorised by the Council to monitor, review, and amend this Policy as and when 

                                                           
1
 ECHR Article 8 

2
 Human Rights Acy 1998, Section 6  

3
 15 September 2022  

4
 Appendix 1 

5
 Insert link to Staff Hub BWV page 

6
 Information Commissioner’s Guidance on Video Surveillance 24/2/2022  

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance/ 

7
 Published 16 November 2021  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-
procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30 
 

24

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30


7 
 

required.  For administration and operational effectiveness, BWV Authorising Officers8 are 
authorised to add or substitute a BWV Officer 9 when required. 

BODY WORN VIDEOS KEY BENEFITS & INTENDED USES  
 
BENEFITS OF USING BODY WORN VIDEOS  

7. BWV technology has a number of benefits and complies with specific objectives, including but 

not limited to: 

 

 Significantly enhances the quality of evidence provided by law enforcement officers; 

 Provides an independent, reliable, real time evidential capture of an event/incident as 

precisely as possible limited only by the field of view and audio range of the device; 

 Promotes positive behaviour and interaction between the wearer and member(s) of the 

public; 

 Assists in the drive to reduce crime and the fear of crime and increases the proportion of 

offences brought to justice 

 Provides a greater impact than street CCTV as they can be deployed at any position within 

an incident; those present quickly learn the recordings include sound and BWVs are more 

obvious than other CCTV systems; 

 Assists in the investigation of a complaint and/or alleged offence(s) arising out of an 

event/incident, thus reducing investigation time for unwarranted complaints; 

 Assists the court to see and hear the incident through the eyes and ears of the officer at the 

scene, thereby gaining a real understanding of the actions of the accused; 

 Time efficient saving by producing an exhibit of the recording, saving officer recording the 

incident as a statement or in their pocket notebook; 

 Individuals prosecuted are more likely to plead guilty at any early stage when served clear 

recorded evidence of their actions, saving time and costs; 

 Assists in officer development as there is an ability to review their performance in detail 

after an incident. 

INTENDED USES OF BODY WORN VIDEOS 
 

8. The use of BWV by Eastleigh Borough Council authorised officers is intended to assist in: 
 

 Prevention and/or detection of crime and/or disorder; 

 Criminal and/or civil proceedings arising out of the incident/event; 

 De-escalation of a conflict/incident/event; 

 Protection of staff who are acting in the course of their Council duties; 

 Dispute resolution e.g., complaints against staff; 

 Supporting the emergency services whilst undertaking their duties; 

 Counter-Terrorism (Prevent Duty); 

 Staff development training as to best practices; 

 
BODY WORN VIDEO STATUTORY FRAMEWORK   
 

                                                           
8
 Appendix 2 

9
 Appendix 4 

25



8 
 

9. The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 governs the regulation of surveillance, specifically the 
Regulation of CCTV and other surveillance camera technology10 and is supported by the 
mandatory requirement of a Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.11  

 
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODE OF PRACTICE  
 

10. Relevant authorities (including local authorities12) have a mandatory duty with regard to the 
Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (the Code), thus they must take the Codes into account 
when exercising any functions which consider the future deployment or continued 
deployment of overt surveillance.  If a relevant authority decides to depart from the Code, 
they will have to have clear reasons for doing so.13  The overarching purpose of the Code is 
to enable operators of surveillance camera systems to make legitimate use of available 
technology in a way that the public would right expect and to a standard that maintains 
public trust and confidence.   

 
DEFINITION OF SURVEILLANCE 
 

11. Surveillance for the purposes of RIPA 2000 includes 14: 
 

(a) monitoring, observing, or listening to persons, their movements, their conversations or their 
other activities or communications; 

(b) recording anything monitored, observed, or listened to in the course of surveillance;  
(c) surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device. 

 
12. Surveillance may be conducted with or without the assistance of a surveillance device, 

includes the recording of any information obtained and can be undertaken whilst on foot, 
mobile or static.  Surveillance also includes references to the interception of a 
communication in the course of its transmission by means of a postal service of 
telecommunication system, if and only if 15: 

 
(a) the communication is one sent by or intended for a person who has consented to the 

interception of communications sent by or to them; and 
(b) there is no interception warrant authorising the interception. 

 
TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE 
 

13. There are two types of surveillance, namely overt and covert. 
 
OVERT SURVEILLANCE 
 

14. Most surveillance carried out by the Council will be overt, thus it will fall outside the remit of 
RIPA.  An example of overt surveillance is the Council’s overt CCTV16 and Body Worn Video 
devices. 

                                                           
10

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Chapter 1, Sections 29-31 
11

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 29 
12

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2021 Section 35(5)(a) 
13

 R (on the application of London Oratory School Governors) v Schools Adjudicator [2015] & R (Munjaz v 
Mersey Care NHS Trust [2006] 
14

 RIPA Section 48(2)(a)-(c) 
15

 RIPA Section 48(4) 
16

 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2585/cctv-code-of-practice-2016.pdf  

26

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2585/cctv-code-of-practice-2016.pdf


9 
 

 
COVERT SURVEILLANCE  
 

15. Surveillance is covert if and only if, it is carried out in a manner that is calculated to ensure 
that persons who are subject to the surveillance are unaware that it is or may be taking 
place.17 

 
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA SYSTEMS 
 

16. Methods of “recording” surveillance were expanded in Part 2 of the Protection of Freedoms 
Act 2012, which dealt with the regulation of CCTV and other surveillance camera technology 
and introduced the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.18  Surveillance Camera Systems 
include19: 

 
(a) Closed circuit television (CCTV) or automated number plate recognition systems (ANPR); 
(b) Any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance purposes; 
(c) Any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing, or checking the images or 

information obtained in (a) or (b); 
(d) Any other systems associated with, or otherwise connected with (a), (b) or (c)  

 
17. Body Worn Videos are captured within (b), as confirmed by the College of Policing Body 

Worn Guidance 2014 and AB v Hampshire Constabulary IPT/17/191/CH [2019]20.  
Surveillance systems can be used to monitor and record the activities of individuals, often in 
high definition and with ease.  These systems therefore capture information about 
identifiable individuals and how they behave which is likely to be personal data under data 
protection law.  Accordingly, the Information Commissioner’s Video Surveillance Guidance 
has been factored into this policy, as BWV is a scenario where personal data will be 
processed by a video surveillance system in the public sector. 

 
SYSTEM OPERATOR 
 

18. A person or persons that take a decision to deploy a surveillance camera system, and/or are 
responsible for defining its purpose, and/or are responsible for the control of the use or 
processing of images or other information obtained by virtue of such system. 

 
SYSTEM USER 
 

19. A person or persons who may be employed or contracted by the system operator who have 
access to live or recorded images or other information obtained by virtue of such system. 

 
BODY WORN VIDEO 
 

20. A body worn video (BWV) device is an overt portal system that provides an audio, video or 
photographic record of activities undertaken and/or witnessed by the wearer.   This type of 
surveillance therefore has the potential to be more intrusive than conventional CCTV 
systems.  Scenarios could include face to face on doorsteps and inside buildings such as 
homes and shops which increases the risk of privacy intrusion to individuals.   

                                                           
17

 RIPA Section 26(9)(a) 
18

 First published June 2013, amended November 2021  
19

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 29(6) 
20

 https://www.ipt-uk.com/docs/IPT%20Judgment%20-%20AB%20v%20Hants%20Constabulary.pdf  

27

https://www.ipt-uk.com/docs/IPT%20Judgment%20-%20AB%20v%20Hants%20Constabulary.pdf


10 
 

 
AUTHORISED OFFICERS 
 

21. The Council has authorised the use of BWV by specific teams and their named BWV  
Officers21, who are required to undergo training, before and in order to be authorised.  The 
Council has also authorised specific officers to be given access to the BWV material, and to 
oversee the BWV Officers use of BWV, known as BWV Authorised Officers.22 

 
PUBLIC PLACE 
 

22. A public place is any highway and any place to which at the material time, the public or any 
section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express 
or implied permission.23  Please note, recordings of persons in public places are only public 
for those present so therefore still have the potential to be private.  Recorded conversations 
between members of the public should always be considered private and consideration of a 
person’s reasonable expectation of privacy is also relevant.   

 
RELEVANT AUTHORITY 
 

23. A relevant authority must have regard to the Surveillance Camera Code when exercising any 
functions to which the code relates.24 For the purposes of fulfilling this statutory obligation, 
a relevant authority includes a local authority within the meaning of the Local Government 
Act 1972.25 

 
FIRST MANDATORY TEST – IN PURSUIT OF A LEGITIMATE AIM 
 

24. Examples of a legitimate aim and pressing need include: 
 

 national security; 

 public safety;  

 economic well-being of the country; 

 prevention or detection of crime and/or disorder;  

 protection of health or morals; 

 protection of rights and freedoms of others. 
 
SECOND MANDATORY TEST – NECESSITY 
 

25. Use of the surveillance camera system must be necessary for a pressing need(s). Any 
deployment should not continue for longer than necessary. 

THIRD MANDATORY TEST – PROPORTIONATE 
 

26. The purpose of the deployment must be proportionate to what is sought to be achieved.  For 
example, is it proportionate to record both the visual and audio content of an incident?  The 
technical design solution for such deployment should be proportionate to the stated 
purpose rather than driven by the availability of funding or technological innovation. The  

                                                           
21

 Appendix 4 
22

 Appendix 2 
23

 Public Order Act 1986 Section 16 
24

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 33(1) 
25

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 33(5) 

28



11 
 

decision as to the most appropriate technology should always consider the potential to meet 
the stated purposed without unnecessary interference with human rights.   

 
SURVEILLANCE CAMERA CODE OF PRACTICE  
 

27. The government is fully supportive of the use of overt surveillance camera systems in a 
public place whenever the use is in pursuit of a legitimate aim, is necessary to meet a 
pressing need, proportionate, effective, and compliant with any relevant legal obligations.   

 
12 GUIDING PRINCIPLES  
 

28. The starting point for a system operator in achieving the most appropriate balance between 
public protection and individual human rights, is to adopt a single set of guiding principles 
that are applicable to all surveillance camera systems in public places.  The Code therefore 
sets out 12 guiding principles that should apply to all surveillance camera systems in public 
places: 

 
1  SPECIFIED PURPOSE 
2 EFFECT ON INDIVIDUALS & PRIVACY 
3 TRANSPARENCY 
4 CLEAR RESPONSIBILITY & ACCOUNTABILITY 
5 CLEAR RULES, POLICIES & PROCEDURES 
6 STORAGE 
7 RESTRICTED ACCESS 
8 STANDARDS 
9 SECURITY MEASURES 
10 REVIEW & AUDIT 
11 USE IN MOST EFFECTIVE WAY  
12 ACCURACY 
 

29. Further assistance as to the 12 Guiding Principles is as follows: 
 
1 SPECIFIED PURPOSE 

 
30. Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose which is in 

pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified pressing need(s). The 
purpose(s) should be capable of translation into clearly articulated objectives against which 
the ongoing requirement for operation or use of the system(s) and any image(s) or other 
information obtained can be assessed.   

 
31. To determine if objectives are met and identifying the appropriate technical solution, a 

system operator should always consider the requirements of the end user of the images, 
particularly where the objective can be characterised as the prevention, detection, and 
investigation of crime, where the end user is likely to be Legal Services Team and thereafter 
the criminal justice system.  Once the specified purpose has been met, the BWV must be 
switched off. 

 
2 EFFECT ON INDIVIDUALS & PRIVACY 
 

32. The user of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on individuals and 
their privacy, with regular annual reviews to ensure its use remains justified.  BWV is a 

29



12 
 

surveillance camera system; thus, consideration must first be given as to whether there is a 
less intrusive means than deploying the BWV.  If not, the system operator must then 
consider if it is necessary and proportionate to capture both the visual and audio content of 
an incident. 

 
3 TRANSPARENCY 
 

33. There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera system as possible, 
including a published contact point for access to information and complaints.  The Council 
has published a web page for the use of surveillance camera systems with specific reference 
to BWV and CCTV, which includes the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.26 
Transparency also requires informing the subject(s) you are capturing their personal data.  

 
4 CLEAR RESPONSIBILITY & ACCOUNTABILITY 
 

34. There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance camera system 
activities including images and information collected, held, and used. 

 
5 CLEAR RULES, POLICIES & PROCEDURES 
 

35. Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance camera system is 
used and these must be communicated to all who need to comply with them. 

 
6 STORAGE 
 

36. No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly required for the 
stated purpose of a surveillance camera system and such images and information should be 
deleted once their purposes have been discharged. 

 
7 RESTRICTED ACCESS 
 

37. Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there must be clearly 
defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose such access is granted; the 
disclosure of images and information should only take place when it is necessary for such a 
purpose or for law enforcement purposes. 

 
8 STANDARDS 
 

38. Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved operational, technical 
and competency standards relevant to a system and its purpose and work to meet and 
maintain those standards. 

 
9 SECURITY MEASURES 
 

39. Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to appropriate 
security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and use. 

 
10 REVIEW & AUDIT 
 

                                                           
26

 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-safety/cctv  

30

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/our-community/community-safety/cctv


13 
 

40. There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal requirements, 
policies and standards are complied with in practice, and regular reports should be 
published. 

 
11 USE IN MOST EFFECTIVE WAY  
 

41. When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate aim, and there is a 
pressing need for its use, it should then be used in the most effective way to support public 
safety and law enforcement with the aim of processing images and information of evidential 
value. 

 
12 ACCURACY 
 

42. Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which compares against a 
reference database for matching purposes, should be accurate and kept up to date. 

 
 
PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA BY VIDEO SURVEILLANCE SYSTEMS  
STAUTORY FRAMEWORK  
 

43. Surveillance camera systems capture information about identifiable individuals and how 
they behave which is likely to be personal data under data protection law.  The recently 
published Information Commissioner’s Office Guidance on Video Surveillance27 provides 
guidance for public authorities operating video surveillance systems that view or record 
individuals, including BWV.  Information held by organisations that is classed as personal 
data relating to identifiable living individuals is covered by the UK General Data Protection 
Regulation (UK GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA).  The seven UK GDPR principles 
for processing personal data are28: 

 
i) Lawfulness, fairness, and transparency; 
ii) Purpose limitation; 
iii) Data minimisation;  
iv) Accuracy; 
v) Storage limitation; 
vi) Integrity and confidentiality; 
vii) Accountability 

 
CONTROLLER 
 

44. The Controller is responsible for and must be able to demonstrate compliance with the 
seven principles set out above.  The Council exercises overall control of the personal data of 
identifiable individuals being processed, thus it is the “controller,” of its surveillance system.   
EBC has therefore previously notified and paid the data protection fee29 to the Information 
Commissioner’s Office. 

 
LAWFUL BASIS 

                                                           
27

 ICO Guidance on Video Surveillance 24/2/2022 
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance/ 

28
 UK GDPR 2016 NO 679, Article 5 – Principles relating to processing of personal data  

29
 Data Protection (Charges and Information) Regulations 2018 

31

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance/


14 
 

 
45. In order to process personal data obtained from the Council’s surveillance systems at least 

one of the six lawful30 bases must apply:  
 

a) Consent; 
b) Contract; 
c) Legal obligation; 
d) Vital interests; 
e) Public task; 
f) Legitimate interests; 

 
46. It is likely the appropriate lawful basis will be legal obligation or reliance on a public task as 

BWV will be carried out as part of the Council’s tasks as a public authority in the public 
interest.   

 
SPECIAL CATEGORY & CRIMINAL CONVICTION DATA 
 

47. Two further lawful bases for processing data are: 
 

 Special Category Data  Require identification of Article 9 UK GDPR condition 

 Criminal Conviction Data Requires compliance with Article 10 UK GDPR   
 
NECESSARY  
 

48. Processing must be objectively necessary for the stated purpose. Many of the lawful bases 
for processing depend on the processing being necessary but it does not require processing 
to be absolutely essential.  It must be more than just useful and standard practice.  

 
PROPORTIONATE  
 

49. Is the use of the surveillance system proportionate or is there a less privacy intrusive method 
of achieving the need where possible?  If not, explain why these alternatives are not suitable 
or sustainable. 

 
PERSONAL DATA 
 

50. Personal data means any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person 
(‘data subject’); an identifiable natural person is one who can be identified, directly or 
indirectly, in particular by reference to an identifier such as a name, an identification 
number, location data, an online identifier or to one or more factors specific to the physical, 
physiological, genetic, mental, economic, cultural or social identity of that natural person.31  
Any recorded image and speech captured, which is aimed at identifying a particular person 
or learning about their activities, is personal data and so is governed by the Data Protection 
Act 2018. 

 
SPECIAL (SENSITIVE) DATA 
 

51. The UK GDPR defines special category data as: 

                                                           
30

 General Data Protection Regulation, Article 6(1)(a)-(f) 
31

 General Data Protection Regulation, Article 4(1) 

32



15 
 

 
 personal data revealing racial or ethnic origin; 
 personal data revealing political opinions; 
 personal data revealing religious or philosophical beliefs; 
 personal data revealing trade union membership; 
 genetic data; 
 biometric data (where used for identification purposes); 
 data concerning health; 
 data concerning a person’s sex life; and 
 data concerning a person’s sexual orientation 

 

52. This does not include personal data about criminal allegations, proceedings or 
convictions, as separate rules apply. 

 
BIOMETRIC DATA 
 

53. Biometric data means personal data resulting from special technical processing relating to 
the physical, physio-logical, or behavioural characteristics of a natural person, which allow or 
confirm the unique identification of that natural person, such as facial images or 
dactyloscopic (fingerprint) data.32 

 
ACCOUNTABILITY   
 

54. The accountability principle requires the Council to take responsibility of what it does with 
personal data, how it complies with the other principles and remains an obligation 
throughout the life of the processing.  These principles include the requirements to33: 

 

 implement technical and organisational measures to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with UK GDPR; 

 ensure the measures are risk-based and proportionate; and 

 review and update the measures as necessary 
 
DATA PROTECTION BY DESIGN & DEFAULT 
 

55. This concept requires the Council to consider data protection and privacy issues at the 
earliest stages of project planning.   

 
PROCESSING RECORDS 
 

56. The Council is required to maintain a record34 of the processing activities taking place, which 
should include the purpose(s) of the lawful use of surveillance, any data sharing agreements, 
and the retention periods of any personal data.   

 
DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) 
 

57. Prior to implementing this Policy, the Council has undertaken a Data Protection Impact 
Assessment to fully address its use of BWV which addressed any impact on the rights and 

                                                           
32

 General Data Protection Regulation, Article 4(14) 
33

 General Data Protection Regulation, Article 24(1) 
34

 General Data Protection Regulation, Article 30(1) 

33



16 
 

freedoms of individuals whose personal data is captured.  Further, the Council will 
undertake a Data Protection Impact Assessment for any processing that is likely to result in a 
high risk to individuals.  That includes: 

 

 processing special category data; 

 monitoring publicly accessible places on a large scale; or 

 monitoring individuals in a workplace 
 

58. The above scenarios are unlikely to occur in relation to the use of BWV, save for the first 
example.  The remaining two scenarios are more applicable to the Council’s use of CCTV.35  If 
a DPIA is undertaken, the Council will consider both the likelihood and the severity of any 
impact on individuals and the reasonable expectations of the individuals whose personal 
data is processed and the potential impact on their rights and freedoms.  

 
59. The considerations and mitigations must be included in the DPIA prior to any deployment of 

a surveillance system that is likely to result in high risk to individuals.  If high risks cannot be 
mitigated, prior consultation with the ICO is required.   

 
60. Guidance as to what the DPIA should contain is found in the ICO’s Video Surveillance 

Guidance,36 along with a DIPA template or Surveillance Cameras37 and guidance for 
conducting DPIAs.38  Similarly, if the Council determines a DPIA is not required, the reasons 
the processing is not of a type likely to result in high risk must be documented.39      

 
PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA  
 

61. The Council must ensure the personal data processed from the BWV is: 
 

 adequate - sufficient to properly fulfil the stated purpose; 

 relevant - has a rational link to the purpose; and 

 limited to what is necessary - you do not hold more than you need for that purpose 
 
FAIR PROCESSING OF DATA 
 

62. The Data Protection Act 2018 requires that the data subject must be informed of: 
 

 the identity of the data controller; 

 the purpose(s) for which the footage is intended to be processed; and 

 any further information that is necessary for processing to be fair. 

 
RETENTION  
 

63. Once the recording has been completed, it is potential evidence for use in an investigation/ 
prosecution and/or complaint.  All images from BWV have the potential for use in court 
proceedings, whether they provide evidence helpful to the prosecution or defence.  The 

                                                           
35

 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2585/cctv-code-of-practice-2016.pdf   
36

 https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-
surveillance-0-0.pdf  
37

 Appendix 3  
38

 https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-
regulation-gdpr-1-1.pdf  
39

 ICO’s Video Surveillance Guidance – Screening Checklists  

34

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2585/cctv-code-of-practice-2016.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance-0-0.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/key-dp-themes/guidance-on-video-surveillance-0-0.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr-1-1.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr-1-1.pdf


17 
 

BWV product must therefore be safeguarded by an audit trail in the same way as other 
evidence retained for court, to ensure the defendant has a right to a fair trial.40  Once it 
becomes clear the purpose for which the images were taken is no longer valid or no longer 
exists, the possibility the photographs could be of some legitimate use in the future is 
generally insufficient to justify continuing retention.   

 
RETENTION PERIOD  
 

64. There is no prescribed minimum or maximum retention period for surveillance systems, or 
the personal data processed from the recorded product.  Instead, it is the purpose of the 
processing that should determine the retention period.  In order to provide sufficient time 
for checks to be undertaken as to whether the footage is required for an investigation, 
prosecution, complaint, or appeal, the shortest time and therefore minimum period the 
Council initially requires retention of the footage is 6 months.   
 

RETENTION CHECKS 
 

65. During the 6 month retention period, officers must take all reasonable steps to ensure the 
recorded material (images, video and/or audio) is not required as evidence in any 
investigation/prosecution/complaint, in order to determine if and how long to retain the 
material for.  If the retention check confirms the footage is not required as evidence, it must 
be deleted once the decision is made.  If the footage is required as evidence, it must be 
retained beyond the 6 month retention period for a period determined by whether it is an 
investigation or prosecution and in accordance with Disclosure obligations. 

 
STORAGE OF DATA 
 

66. Recordings must be securely held in accordance with the Council’ storage procedures, in 
order to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the information to ensure 
the Council protects the rights of the individuals recorded by the BWV and can use the 
information effectively for its intended purpose.  Video recordings must not be tampered 
with, lost, or accidentally destroyed.  Images should be stored and retained so they are 
retrievable and accessible for replay and viewing and kept in an environment that will not be 
detrimental to the quality or capacity for future viewing.  The information should be stored 
in a way that makes it easy to identify, locate and retrieve relating to a specific individual or 
event.   

 
RESTRICTED ACCESS & DATA ENCRYPTION 
 

67. Access to the BWV’s recorded product is restricted to the Council’s BWV Officers41 and video 
recordings should be protected if the device is lost.  Both the Information Commissioner’s 
Office (ICO) and Biometrics & Surveillance Camera Commissioner (SCC) recommend 
encryption as an effective way to achieve data security.   

68. The image file or indeed the whole drive can be encrypted so that the file cannot be opened 
except with the correct decryption key. This has particular value if images are to be 
transmitted to or from remote sites. Encryption does not change the data contained within 
the file. Loss or corruption of the encryption key may make files unrecoverable. Encryption 

                                                           
40

 ECHR Article 6 
41

 Appendix 4 

35



18 
 

systems that progressively decrypt on demand, rather than decrypting the whole file prior to 
replay may affect image quality on replay systems with low processing power. 

69. Some systems will employ a form of encryption known as Digital Rights Management (DRM) 
that prevents access to the file without the correct credentials. 

DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES FOR HANDLING DIGITAL IMAGES & EVIDENCE 
 

70. The following data protection principles42 are most relevant when handling digital images 
and evidence: 
 
 Principle 3 (Relevance) - Data must be adequate, relevant, and not excessive in relation 

to the purpose for which it is processed. 
 Principle 5 (Retention) - Data should only be retained for as long as it is necessary for the 

purpose it was originally collected. Policies should be in place setting out standard 
periods of retention. 

 Principle 6 (Security) - Appropriate security measures should be in place to protect 
personal data. 
 

71. It should be noted that the requirements of Principle 5 (Retention) must be harmonised with 
the retention requirements in the CPIA and Information Management.   

 
72. Images should also be protected from accidental deletion by the careful handling of media. 

Media should be stored in clean, dry environments and kept away from strong magnetic 
fields, strong light and chemical contamination. 

 
SECURITY MEASURES 
 

73. The Council’s implementation of appropriate technical and organisational security measures 
includes: 

 

 any ability to make copies of information is restricted to appropriate staff; 

 ensuring that there are sufficient controls and safeguards in place if the system is 
connected to or made are available across a network; 

 where information is disclosed to a third party, it can be safely delivered to the intended 
recipient 

 control rooms and rooms where information is stored are secure; 

 training staff in security procedures with sanctions against staff who misuse surveillance 
system information  

 awareness of staff that they could be committing a criminal offence if they misuse 
surveillance system information; 

 being aware of any software updates (particularly security updates) published by the 
equipment’s manufacturer that need to be applied to the Council’s system or any other 
devices connected to it or both 

 
74. The Council will document procedures and review them annually in conjunction with the 

annual review of this Policy. 
 
PERIODIC REVIEW OF SYSTEM 

                                                           
42

 Data Protection Act 2018, Part 3, Chapter 2  

36



19 
 

 
75. The Council will undertake a periodic review every quarter of its BWV system’s effectiveness 

to ensure it is still doing what it was intended to do.  Further, CDs, DVDs, digital tapes and so 
on are designed for short-to-medium term storage periods. To ensure the integrity of the 
data the files need to be transferred to new media regularly, possibly as often as every 5 
years, or transferred to professionally managed data management archive systems. Data on 
these systems needs periodic review to ensure that the format is still accessible with 
currently available software and codecs 

 
DELETION/DISPOSAL 
 

76. The Council has measures in place to ensure the permanent deletion of information through 
secure methods.  No image obtained for the purpose of an investigation should be deleted 
without authority and completion of audit trails should be undertaken once statutory 
retention periods are completed, in accordance with the Council’s Data Retention Policy43. 

 
PRIVACY INFORMATION 
 

77. In addition to requiring clear signage, verbal announcements, or lights/indicators on the 
device itself, the ICO requires a readily available Privacy Policy accessible on the Council’s 
website.  If appropriate, the BWV user should direct the individual to the Council’s Privacy 
Notice and Local Area Services Privacy Policy.44   

 

TECHNICAL GUIDANCE FOR BODY WORN VIDEO DEVICES  
 

78. The Council has also considered and incorporated the Home Office Technical Guidance for 
Body Worn Video Device 45 along with the recently published ICO Video Surveillance 
Guidance which has to an extent superseded the Home Office Technical Guidance.  The  
Council has also considered and incorporated the Home Office Digital Imaging & Multimedia 
Procedure (DIMP) V346 (16 November 2021) into this Policy. 

 
STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT  
  

79. When equipment is not in use, it should be securely stored in a suitable Council location.  
Each BWV Officer is assigned a BWV device which is electronically assigned to the BWV 
Officer during the “Booking Out,” process.  This process includes the option to retain the 
booked out user and also automatically creates an electronic contemporaneous issue and 
returns log when the device is taken or put back into the docking system.    

 
DURABILITY  
 

80. Devices should be suitably robust and function effectively in their operational environment. 
 

                                                           
43

 https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Retention-and-disposal-schedule  
44

 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy  ; https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-
areas ; https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/3925/cctv-privacy-notice.pdf  
45

 Published July 2018, Publication No 012/18 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746287/t
echnical-guidance-body-worn-video-01218p.pdf  
46

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-
procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30  

37

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Retention-and-disposal-schedule
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy%20/
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/3925/cctv-privacy-notice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746287/technical-guidance-body-worn-video-01218p.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746287/technical-guidance-body-worn-video-01218p.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30


20 
 

INTEGRITY 
 

81. The user should be confident the device has correctly produced the recording.  Further, one 
of the fundamental requirements of digital imaging is the need to safeguard the integrity of 
images; part of this process involves an audit trail being started at the earliest stage. This 
may be as a written audit trail, and/or incorporate an auto-generated electronic audit trail 
mapping the movement and changes of files on computers. When relating to third party 
images, the audit trail should begin at, and detail, the point of transfer. 

 
82. The audit trail may be written and/or incorporate an auto-generated electronic audit trail 

mapping the movement and changes of files on computers.  The audit trial should include 
the following information (with date and time of action) when available and if appropriate: 

 
 details of the case; 
 classification of the image(s) (and any special handling instructions, if relevant) and the 

name of the person who classified the image; 
 if the image is third-party generated, information about point of transfer including 

whether the image is the Master, a Working Copy or an exhibit derived from a Working 
Copy; 

 information about capture equipment and/or hardware and software used, including 
details of the maintenance log relating to capture equipment and calibration of hardware 
and software; 

 Licence Identity of the capture operative including third parties and image retrieval 
officers, where applicable; 

 Where third party data is requested: 
 letter to third party 
 explanatory note 
 third party response letter 

 details of exhibits and disclosure officer(s); 
 description of the images captured, including sequencing; 
 details of retrieval or seizure process and point of transfer, if applicable; 
 creation and defining of the Master Copy and associated metadata; 
 storage of the Master Copy; 
 any access to the Master Copy; 
 viewing of the Master and Working Copies, including a record of any associated viewing 

logs; 
 details and reasons for any selective capture; 
 any editing applications which may alter the image; 
 any details of processing applications allowing replication by a comparatively trained 

individual; 
 electronic history log of processing applications; 
 any copying required to ensure preservation and longevity of the data; 
 revelation to the CPS of the Master and Working Copies; 
 any copying carried out as part of a migration strategy to ensure the replay longevity of 

the image; 
 disposal details and retention time periods; 
 hash value or equivalent at point of receipt; 
 reason for collection or receipt of the imagery 
 

 
DATA TRANSFER TO BACK OFFICE SYSTEM  

38



21 
 

 
83. Video recordings should be transferred off the device as soon as is possible.   

 
84. The Council’s BWV system provides the option to allocate Personal Issue during the Booking 

Out process (see para. 79) and all BWV Officers are required to use the Personal Issue 
option.  The BWV footage is downloaded onto a secure system when placed back into the 
docking station.  The system identifies during the data transfer uploading process the status 
of the upload via its progress bar and visual images.  Once complete the device indicates 
“Upload Complete,” following which the footage will automatically be deleted from the 
device. 
 

VIDEO DATA  
 

85. To facilitate the use of the recordings for investigations and appeals and so on, the video 
data should be part of a package, containing the following information: 

 
 clear identification of the image sequence or sequences 
 an easily-read text file stating any requirements for special hardware or software for 

replay 
 all associated metadata (time and date should be bound to the relevant images) 
 licence-free software enabling the sequences to be viewed correctly 

 
86. Other items that could be included: 

 text data about the originating camera or system 
 audit trails 
 authentication or verification software 
 short test sequence to confirm that the recorded image sequences are being replayed 

correctly 
 Contact details for the Council’s Data Protection Officer  in case of media being lost / 

found 
 

87. The Council’s BWV system deals with these requirements by providing the following 
electronic audit trails: 
 

FEATURE SUMMARY 

Audit Log Filter option by date range, user or action 

Booking Log Who booked out, location, personal issue or not 

Reports  Model, date added to DEMS 360, date decommissioned if  
Applicable, last recording date, last booking date, current booking 
date, booker user and allocated location if applicable  

Camera Booking 
Log 

Activity for every camera, booking state, user, location and full 
booking history 

User’s Activity Number of uploaded files, deleted files, burned files, exported files 
and snapshots created 

User’s Uploading 
Statistics  

Count of following files: 
non-evidential, evidential, deleted, total,  
Total duration and total size 

 
 

STILL IMAGES  
 

39



22 
 

88. In general, still images are stored in widely supported formats and there is no need for 
viewing software to be stored with the images, but where proprietary formats are used then 
the viewing software should be included on the media in line with the information given 
above for sequences. 

 
REUSABLE MEMORY  

89. The Council’s BWV system process to transfer data from the device to the system is set out 
above (see paragraph 83-84).  Once images are transferred the reusable medium is 
automatically reformatted/sanitized to remove all of the previous image files in preparation 
for reuse.  

NETWORK  
 

90. The Council’s BWV system network is Reveal DEMS 360. 

 
 
BODY WORN VIDEO PROCESSES 
 

91. A staff user guide47 has been produced, using the relevant information from this Policy to 
facilitate BWV Officers use of BWV and ensure compliance with the relevant legislation.   

 
PRE-LAUNCH ADVERTISING 
 

92. The Council will commence a pre-launch advertising campaign by publishing details on EBC’s 
website48. This will  inform the residents and businesses within the Borough that the Council 
intends to launch use of BWV devices by authorised officers. 

 
UNIFORM & POSITIONING OF BWV 
 

93. The Council’s use of BWV will be reiterated by officers wearing a symbol/sign on their 
uniform.  Further, the BWV device will be in a prominent position (normally on their chest) 
and the officer will ensure that its forward-facing display is visible to persons being 
recorded. 

 
START OF SHIFT PROCEDURE  
 

94. All BWV Users will be issued with their own device at the commencement of their shift and 
the device’s electronic Booking Out process will be completed to identify the user.    

 
MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT 
 

95. The user must ensure the equipment is in working order before commencing duty and any 
malfunction of equipment must be reported.49  These checks should ensure:  
 

 the unit is correctly assembled;  

 recording picture is the right way up;  

                                                           
47

 Appendix 5 
48

 Insert link to Website page 
49

 To be reported to Parking Operations Team Leader) or Local Response Officer Team Leader 

40



23 
 

 sound recording level is appropriate to use and the system date and time stamp is accurate. 
operator adjustable settings are made appropriately; 

 the system time and date settings are correct; 

 if the equipment is battery operated the internal battery is fully charged; 

 a scheme of checks is carried out before deployment particularly for equipment that is used 
less frequently 

 
96. It is essential that time and date settings are correct.  Any inconsistencies should be 

documented, and the equipment monitored to ensure that further drift of these settings 
does not occur. 
 

DECISION TO RECORD AN INCIDENT 
 

97. Recordings must be incident specific and should only be made in situations where the BWV 
user would previously have made a written record of the encounter for example in their 
pocket notebook and/or within a statement.  BWV users must not record beyond what is 
necessary for their deployed specified purpose in order to ensure the recording is not 
excessive. 

 
GENERAL PATROLLING 
 

98. Recordings should not be made of general patrolling duties or entire patrols unless it is part 
of a specific operation/incident. 

 
AUDIO RECORDING 
 

99. When deciding whether to record the audio content, consideration must be given to the 
Code’s  Guiding Principle 2 (Effect on Individual & Privacy) and whether it is proportionate.   
BWV users should not normally use surveillance systems (BWV) to directly record 
conversations between members of the public as this is highly intrusive and will require 
greater justification.  The ICO guidance states the BWV user should switch off by default any 
capability to record audio, to be activated for example by a trigger switch.   
 

100.  Audio recordings should only be used when the BWV user has: 
 

 Identified a particular need or issue and can evidence that this need must be addressed 
by audio recording; 

 Considered other less privacy intrusive methods of achieving this need; 

 Reviewed the other less privacy intrusive methods and concluded these will not 
appropriately address the identified issue and the only way to do so is through the use 
of audio recording.  

 
101. The BWV user should then take additional steps to make it clear to individuals that audio 

recording is taking place in addition to any visual recording. 
 
WHEN TO START RECORDING 
 

102. Recordings should commence at the start of any deployment to an incident and should 
continue uninterrupted until the incident is concluded, either because of resumption of 
normal patrolling or because recording has commenced through another video system (e.g., 
town centre CCTV). 

41



24 
 

 
VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO RECORDING  
 

103. Prior to switching on the BWV, the user must wherever possible/practicable verbally 
announce to the data subject(s) of an encounter of: 

 

 the date, time, and location; 

 video and audio recording is taking/is going to take place using BWV; 

 purpose(s) for which the footage is intended to be processed/nature of the incident to 
which the user is deployed; 

 confirmation to those present that the incident is now being recorded using both video 
and audio; 

 Any further information that is necessary for processing to be fair. 
 

104. If this is not practicable due to an on-going incident, then the announcement should be 
made as soon as possible afterwards.  Similarly, if the recording has started prior to the 
user’s arrival at the scene of the incident, they should as soon as practicable announce to 
those present that recording is taking place and that their actions and sounds are being 
recorded.  Announcements should be made using straightforward language such as: 
 

 I am audio and video recording you; 

 I am audio and video recording this incident; 

 Everything you say and do is being recorded. 
 
BUFFER RECORDING 
 

105. Some BWV devices offer the ability to continuously buffer recording so if the device is 
turned on, it may also have recorded the previous few seconds.  The BWV user must ensure 
any buffered recording is not excessive and the user only records the amount of footage 
intended to be captured.   

 
SELECTIVE CAPTURE 
 

106. When recording an incident, it is likely that BWV users will encounter victims, suspects and 
witnesses as well as recording the visual evidence of the scene.  Selective capture is a means 
by which users may separate encounters with each of these types of persons or occurrence 
in order to allow for easier retrieval and disclosure at a later time.  For example, a Council 
officer may record an encounter with a witness that includes their name and address, then 
this section should not be shown to the suspect and/or their legal representative.   

 
BOOKMARKING  
 

107. Bookmarking may not always be practicable and so should only be attempted if the 
situation is calm and the BWV user is easily able to undertake this technique.  Prior to any 
temporary suspension for the purpose of bookmarking, the user should make a verbal 
announcement for the purpose of the recording to clearly state the reason for briefly 
suspending recording.  Following the pause, the BWV user should also announce they have 
recommenced recording.  The bookmarking process will be demonstrated on the final whole 
recording of the incident by a missing section for a few seconds.  In creating the master disk 
exhibit for court, the user must include all bookmarked sections for the incident as one 
complete master recording of the incident. 

42



25 
 

 
VERBAL ANNOUCMENT PRIOR TO ENDING OF RECORDING 
 

108. The user should continue to record for a short period after the incident to clearly 
demonstrate to any subsequent viewer that the incident has concluded.  Prior to concluding 
the recording, the BWV user should make a verbal announcement to indicate the reason for 
ending the recording, which should include: 

 

 Date, time, and location; and 

 Reason for concluding the recording. 
 

BWV IN PRIVATE DWELLINGS 
 

109. If a BWV user is called to attend a private dwelling, the need to record the incident will 
have to be far greater in order for the use of the BWV to be both justified and proportionate 
and the reasoning will have to be evidenced.  The requirement for the BWV user to, 
whenever practicable, make a verbal announcement that recording is taking place is 
particularly important when in a private dwelling, such as attending a home address 
regarding a complaint of noise nuisance or anti-social behaviour.  The rights of individuals to 
respect for private and family life50 must be carefully considered when considering whether 
to use BWV in a private dwelling, as it is likely to be particularly intrusive, especially during 
the times of day when occupants are likely to be in bed.   
 

110. BWV users should therefore exercise their discretion and only record when it is relevant to 
the incident and necessary for gathering evidence, where other reasonable means of doing 
so are not available and the recording is relevant to the incident.   

 
111. Officers may find that one party objects to the recording taking place, for example where it 

is a noise nuisance complaint from a tenant in a shared let property. In such circumstances, 
officers should continue to record while explaining the reasons for recording continuously, 
such as: 

 

 an incident has occurred requiring Council officers to attend; 

 there is a requirement to secure best evidence of any offences that have occurred 
whether this is in writing or on video, the video evidence will be more accurate and 
higher quality and therefore it is in the interests of all parties to record it, such as the 
level of noise created by a shared occupancy tenant playing excessively loud music over 
a prolonged period, in order to prove the noise is a statutory nuisance; 

 continuing to record would safeguard both parties, with a true and accurate recording of 
any significant statement made by either party and of the scene; 

 the incident may reoccur in the immediate future; 

 continuing to record will safeguard the officer against any potential allegations from 
either party; 

 any non-evidential material will be retained for a maximum of 6 months only; 

 the material is restricted and cannot be disclosed to third parties without the subject’s 
express authority, unless prescribed and permitted by law; 

 recorded material is Council information and can be accessed on request in writing in 
according with Freedom of Information Requests, unless and exemption applies and is 
also accessible by a subject access request. 

                                                           
50

 Article 8 ECHR 

43



26 
 

 
112. If at any point it becomes clear the incident would no longer be the subject matter of an 

entry in the officer’s pocket notebook, then the officer should cease recording.  Footage 
taken in private dwellings should be deleted as soon as is practicable once it has been 
checked and confirmed it is not relevant to any criminal investigation/prosecution or 
complaint. 

 
WITNESS FIRST ACCOUNTS 
 

113. If the BWV user is approached by victims or witnesses who are giving their first account of 
the crime, the BWV user may record the encounter which should be treated as an evidential 
recording.  The first account is principally about determining any action that is immediately 
necessary.  Officers should only ask questions as are necessary to: 

 

 establish if an offence has been committed; 

 establish where it occurred and who was responsible; 

 assess the current risk to the victim(s) and witness(es); 

 identify and prioritise areas of the investigation 
 

114. Such recordings do not replace the need for formal written statements from victims or 
witnesses but are to be used as supporting evidence.  If multiple witnesses wish to give their 
accounts to a Council officer wearing a BWV, then wherever practicable, witnesses should 
be kept physically separate to avoid contaminating descriptions or other evidence.   
 

115. The bookmarking process should be adopted so that individual accounts can be easily 
separated. In addition to producing the footage of the first accounts, officers would also be 
required to produce a statement of the first account.  If the victim does not consent to be 
video recorded, the BWV user may consider diverting the camera away from the victim, 
disconnecting the camera or obscuring the lenses and recording the encounter only using 
the audio facility. The explicit consent of the victim must be obtained prior to beginning 
either form of the recording. 

 
SCENE REVIEW AND PREMISES SEARCHING 
 

116. BWV can also be used to record the location of objects and evidence at a crime scene 
and/or during the search of premises. 

 
LIMITATIONS ON USE 
 

117. BWV recordings are not appropriate in certain circumstances such as: 
 

 Legal privilege – e.g., consultation with suspect and his/her solicitor; 

 Private dwellings – there must be clear justification for using BWV and the user must 
not record beyond what is justifiable, lawful, necessary, and proportionate for the 
evidential requirements of the case; 

 BWV should not be used for formal investigative interviews (PACE interviews) with 
certain witnesses, nor may it be used for interviewing suspects; 

 Users should exercise care in using BWV where it may cause serious offence, for 
example during religious worship 

 
END OF SHIFT  

44



27 
 

 
118. BWV users must ensure any BWV footage confirmed during the course of their shift to be 

required for evidential purposes, is correctly bookmarked and any Incident Report is 
completed.   
 

119. BWV officers are individually responsible for ensuring their allocated BWV device is 
correctly connected to the docking station to enable downloading and charging at the 
conclusion of their shift.      

 
REFERRAL TO POLICE 
 

120. For incidents where the police were not in attendance, a BWV Authorising Officer51 will 

review the footage in consultation with the BWV Officer to decide whether a referral to the 

police is appropriate.  If a decision is made not to refer the incident to the police, the BWV 

footage shall be uploaded in the usual way and retained for 6 months. If a decision is made 

to refer the incident to the police it is reported via 101, including the fact there is BWV 

footage.  If the police pursue an investigation they request the footage via a DP2 Form; the 

footage is downloaded from the system onto an encrypted USB, uploaded to the standalone 

DEMS PC and sent to the police via DEMS.  The fact of the police referral is recorded within 

the Council’s Health and Safety Incident Record and therefore it is not necessary to maintain 

a separate BWV police referral register. 

 
SAFEGUARDING BODY WORN VIDEO DATA 
 

121. The Council has considered and adopted the principles contained in the Home Office 
Safeguarding Body Worn Video Data.52    

 
DATA RECORDED BY BWV DEVICES    
 

122. BWVs record both video and audio content and have wide angle lenses to capture events 
across a broad field of view, which is likely to result in capturing information that is either 
not crucial to and/or relevant to the investigation, is deemed collateral intrusion and may 
additionally be sensitive data.  The two categories of information captured by BWV are: 

 
i) Primary Information  Intentionally recorded and relevant; 
ii) Secondary Information   Unintentionally recorded and not relevant 

 
123. Examples of Primary Information are first accounts from victims, suspects, or witnesses; 

identification of a person; direct conversations with members of the public; decisions and 
actions of the BWV User; peoples’ physical and mental state/demeanour/ 
actions; atmosphere during an incident; location of evidence; record of criminal activity.   
Examples of Secondary Information which is unlikely to be relevant to an investigation are 
private conversations between officers at the scene of an incident or family photos at the 
premises of the victim which contains images of the victim’s children.  This category of 

                                                           
51

 APPENDIX 2 
52

 Published October 2018 – Publication No.011/18 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746254/
safeguarding-body-worn-video-data-01118o.pdf  

45

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746254/safeguarding-body-worn-video-data-01118o.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746254/safeguarding-body-worn-video-data-01118o.pdf


28 
 

information may also be sensitive as it relates to Operational Policing; Police and Emergency 
Personnel; members of the Public.    
 

124. The location of the BWV whilst recording may increase the risk of recording sensitive 
information such as a hospital, place of worship, private home.  BWV users should  therefore 
be aware of their device’s potential to capture secondary information, in particular sensitive 
information and greater discretion may be required when recording in special locations. 

 
CONSEQUENCES OF LOST BWV DATA   
 

125. It is vital all BWV data is securely retained in order to avoid it being lost and/or accessed by 
unauthorised personnel.   Any data breach must be reported to the Data Protection Officer, 
who will determine if the incident needs reporting to the ICO.  Measures which can assist in 
safeguarding data are: 

 

 Physical security of BWV devices; 

 Protecting Data on BWV devices; 

 Transferring data to back office system; 

 Tagging and organising data; 

 Asset management of BWV devices 
 
USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE 
 

126. When producing any form of digital evidence, it is essential Home Office Digital Imaging & 
Multimedia Procedure (DIMP) V353 (16 November 2021) is followed.  

 
MASTER COPY  
 

127. The Core principle of the Digital Imaging & Multimedia Procedure (DIMP) V3 is the creation 

of an identifiable, isolated, and suitably stored Master reference copy at the earliest 

opportunity, known as the Master Copy, which must be stored securely, pending its 

production (if required) at court in evidence as an exhibit.  The exact method of storage is to 

an extent unimportant, provided it can be shown the Master is unchanged from the moment 

of its definition in order to confirm the authenticity of the evidence relied upon in 

proceedings.   The Council’s Master Copy is currently, and will remain, stored on a separate 

secure PC with restricted access and the laptop is located in a locked room with restricted 

access. 

 

128. The Master Copy may be stored as a physical item or purely in digital form.  The DIMP 

guidance acknowledges the benefits of storing both the Master and Working Copy on a 

secure server instead of a physical WORM (Write Once Read Many) media such as CDs and 

DVDs. The Council’s secure server environment is the Reveal DEMS (Digital Evidence 

Management System).   The Master Copy should not be used, except to produce additional 

Working Copies when no other Working Copies are available to copy, or by order of the 

court to establish authenticity. 

 

129. The Master must be: 

                                                           
53

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-
procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30  

46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/digital-investigations-digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure/digital-imaging-and-multimedia-procedure-v30


29 
 

 

 Labelled or named (with due care to the longevity and readability of label and of 
medium); 

 Preserved in a form and manner with software if required, so that the images may 
be viewed in the future; 

 Stored in a manner that prevents alteration or accidental erasure; this can be by 
either physical or electronic means; 

 Kept in accordance with the exhibit protocol;54 

 Not used, except to make further copies, in whole or in part, together with an 
appropriate adult trail, or by order of the court to verify authenticity.  If viewed 
directly, suitable write-protection must be in place. 

 
130. The Master should be designated at the point at which the data is under Council control 

and has been stored according to the conditions described above.    There may be 
intermediate steps between the initial capture and the designation of the Master Copy, 
involving for example transmission or the use of a transfer medium.  There must be an 
accompanying audit trail showing its provenance.  All use and movement of the Master must 
be logged in the audit trail. 

 
WORKING COPY  
 

131. Officers must create a working copy from the original media for use during the 
investigation process, for service in evidence and disclosure.  The Working Copy is usually 
produced simultaneously or immediately after the Master is defined and is the version to be 
used for investigation and to assist in the preparation of the prosecution file, if the matter 
progresses to commencing criminal proceedings.  Significant use, enhancement and 
distribution of Working Copies should be logged to support the presentation of evidence.  If 
the quality of the original recording (video or audio) requires enhancement, this work should 
be undertaken using the working copy.  At the conclusion of the processing, a copy must be 
sealed as a master version of the incident post-enhancement.  Statements dealing with the 
technical enhancement process and continuity trail will be required. 

 
132. Working Copies produced for the investigation, technical investigation, briefings, 

circulation, and preparation of prosecution evidence and defence can be in any of the forms 
described: 
 digital file; 
 hard copy stills from still or video cameras; 
 edited video; 
 enhanced still or video; 
 converted to non-proprietary format 

 
AUDIT TRAILS 
 

133. All audit trails should be disposed of when image files and any analogue copies are 
disposed of. 

 
PLAYBACK 
 

                                                           
54

 See Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996 Code of Practice; Retention, Storage and Destruction  

47



30 
 

134. Playback will only be permitted and facilitated if formally requested in writing or verbally 

requested.  A playback record is automatically electronically recorded by the Reveal PC 

software, hence a separate Playback Request Log is not required.  If a request is made by a 

Police Officer attending the incident or by another police officer subsequently involved in 

the investigation, a playback request log can be generated and produced from the system. 

CONTINUITY  
 

135. In order to prove the authenticity and continuity of recordings, officers should produce 
evidential continuity statements to confirm that any securely stored sealed master copy has 
not been tampered with.  The following content should be included in the statement:  

 

 Equipment serial number/identifying mark; 

 Day, date, and time the user took possession of the equipment (time A); 

 Day, date, time, and location the user commenced recording (time B); 

 Day, date, time, and location the user concluded recording (time C); 

 Day, date, time, and location that the master copy was created and retained in a 
secure storage (time D); 

 If any other person had access to or used the equipment between times A, B or C 
and time D (if so, a statement will be required from that person). 

 
PREPARATION OF A PROSECUTION FILE 

136. Officers responsible for file preparation for Legal Services should: 

 ensure that the Master is kept in suitable and secure conditions by the Council and 
copies made available to the prosecution or defence, upon request; 

 be cognisant of any redaction requirements where personal data is not to be shared with 
defence or third parties; 

 liaise with the relevant Legal Specialist at an early meeting to discuss the processes and 
capture systems used, where relevant; 

 provide Legal Services with full information accompanying any evidential digital images, 
this might include audit trails, maintenance logs, viewing logs and disclosure schedules; 

 list and describe any unused and/or un-viewed material clearly; 

 ensure that viewing logs used for moving images highlight relevant sequences; 

 provide Legal Services with accurate information about the preferred format for 
revelation in order to reduce the loss of image quality; 

 consider the format in which the image is provided to Legal Services in order to facilitate 
viewing and replay; 

 liaise with the Legal Specialist to ensure that viewing and replay is possible prior to trial. 
It should be noted that it is often not practical to play the native format at court 

 
EVIDENTIAL STATEMENTS   
 

137. Any recording of an incident is likely to provide better evidence than an officer’s 
recollection and subsequent pocket notebook note and statement.  If the recording covers 
the whole incident, it is not essential for the officer to produce a statement detailing the 
entire incident as this is avoidable duplication.  If two officers are present at the same 

48



31 
 

incident, whilst the other officer deals with the incident, the resultant recording can be 
utilised as evidence for both officers as long as it shows the entire incident.  The recording 
officer should also make notes of the incident to cover any additional points that may be 
outside the view of the camera as well as all evidential information required in the event of a 
technical failure. 
 

138. The statement must include details of the evidential audit trail for the production of the 
master disk, and in order to assist both the prosecution and defence, it is advisable that the 
statement producing the exhibit contains a summary paragraph outlining the evidential 
aspects of the incident and the recording.   

 
139. It is recommended the officer records each incident in its entirety from the time of 

deployment to conclusion.  If there is any break in the recording, details, and the reason for 
this must be included in the officer’s statement.  

 
140. BWV users should note that although a recording shows significant detail, some evidential 

information may take place out of view or hearing of the camera or microphone.  It is vital 
all such additional information is recorded in statements so that the full detail of the 
evidence is captured.  It may therefore assist to provide a running commentary in the video 
of evidence that you are aware of, but which is not captured, to assist subsequent viewers. 

 
TECHNICAL FAILURE  
 

141. In the event of technical failure of BWV equipment, it is vital the officer is still able to 
provide the best possible evidence through a traditional witness statement.  It is therefore 
crucial the BWV user remains attentive throughout in order to ensure they can subsequently 
recall all evidential aspects of the incident within a witness statement.  If the equipment has 
captured part of the incident, it should be produced in evidence and the remainder of the 
incident be recorded within a witness statement. 

 
EXHIBITS 

142. All images should be presented so that evidential content is not compromised. Where 
possible, images should be presented in their native or original format. If there is pertinent 
material that can only be seen when the image is viewed in proprietary form then provision 
should be made for appropriate playback equipment to be provided in court, if these 
arrangements are not already in place.  It should be understood that images may look 
different depending on the transmission and display equipment used. In particular, images 
viewed on different screens or by different media players may appear different from one 
another. An accurate replay facility should be provided wherever possible. 

TRANSCRIPTS  
 

143. The BWV footage is produced as an exhibit by the BWV user, hence a transcript will rarely 
be required, so for example if translation is required or the sound is of poor quality. 

 
REDACTIONS   
 

144. Redactions include editing/censoring/obstructing those parts of a recording that contain 
collateral intrusion of non-suspects/third parties; sensitive information; expose police tactics 
or compromise operational strategies.  Redactions can be both audio and/or visual.  This 

49



32 
 

may therefore require removing sections of a recording; concealing or masking visible 
objects such as pixilating photos, blurring, masking or using a solid fill to completely obscure 
parts of the footage; removing metadata and muting parts of the audio content.   

 
COPIES 
 

145. Copies of footage should be obtained when required, in a timely manner in a suitable 
format, without losing image quality or time and date information.   

 
THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING REGISTER 
 

146. Any third party request for data must be in writing via a DP2 Form, or if due to the urgency 
of the situation it may be made verbally.  There is restricted access to the BWV system, 
therefore the process of accessing, viewing, capturing and electronically sending the 
requested BWV footage to any third party, cannot be dealt with by the Data Protection 
Team.  To ensure records are maintained, all Third Party Data Sharing requests must be 
recorded firstly in the BWV Team Centrally Retrievable Electronic Third Party Data Sharing 
Register55 and secondly, a copy of the DP2 must be provided to the Data Protection Team via 
email56, on receipt and prior to it being processed and/or responded to.     

 
DATA SHARING WITH OTHER AGENCIES     
 

147. The Data Protection Act 201857 allows the sharing of material with a statutory partner 
agency where it is necessary to prevent or detect crime or apprehend or prosecution 
offenders.  The Data Sharing Code of Practice58 was implemented by the Data Protection Act 
201859 (DPA) and came into force on 5 October 2021.  Once any required redactions have 
taken place, the product of any BWV must not be shared unless it is accordance with a Data 
Sharing Agreement.  Once information is disclosed to a third party, they become the 
controller for the copy they hold.   

 
148. When providing data to the police, the system should allow the police to: 

 

 take receipt of evidential recordings in order to safeguard them; 

 replay the recordings in order to view and copy them; 

 make authentic (not materially different) copies in formats suitable for use 
by investigators, Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and the courts; 

 access viewing facilities if the original recording has to be viewed 
 

149. The Council’s method for lawfully providing BWV data to third parties is by either 
completing the DP2 Request form and providing a physical copy of the data onto an 
encrypted USB or electronically via a DEMs upload to the police.  It is intended that in due 
course this process will be modified to permit the data to be transferred electronically, 
enabling a direct link to an external upload to the police.    
 

DATA SHARING WITH THE MEDIA 

                                                           
55

 Appendix 6 
56

 Data Protection Team email – dp@eastleigh.gov.uk  
57

 Data Protection Act 2018, Schedule 11, paragraph 2 
58

 https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/ico-codes-of-practice/data-sharing-a-
code-of-practice-1-0.pdf  
59

 Data Protection Act 2018 Section 125 

50

mailto:dp@eastleigh.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/ico-codes-of-practice/data-sharing-a-code-of-practice-1-0.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/ico-codes-of-practice/data-sharing-a-code-of-practice-1-0.pdf


33 
 

 
150. Sharing of BWV images to the media usually occurs in the course of a police investigation in 

order to assist in tracing wanted suspects or locating people who have escaped from 
custody.  Circumstances where the Council may wish to release BWV images is for a post-
conviction press release.   There are specific restrictions to the principle of open justice.   
 
 

151. Firstly, there is an automatic restriction on reporting information that identified or is likely 
to identify any person under the age of 18 who is concerned in youth court proceedings as a 
victim, witness, or defendant.60 Secondly, there is a discretionary power to restrict reporting 
the identity of victims, witnesses, and defendants under the age of 18 who appear in 
Magistrates’ Court or the Crown Court.61 

 
152. The Council has considered and adopted the Protocol for working together: Chief Police 

Officers, Chief Crown Prosecutors, and the Media62 to identify and determine Media Access 
to Prosecution Materials.    Prosecution material which has been relied upon (served) by the 
prosecution in court and which can normally be released to the media includes: 

 Maps/photographs (including custody photos of defendants)/diagrams and other 
documents produced in court; 

 Videos showing scenes of crime as recorded by police after the event; 

 Videos of property seized (e.g., weapons, clothing as shown to jury in court, drug hauls 
or stolen goods); 

 Sections of transcripts of interviews/statements as read out (and therefore reportable, 
subject to any orders) in court;  

 Videos or photographs showing reconstructions of the crime; 

 CCTV footage of the defendant, subject to any copyright issues. 
 

153. Prosecution material which may be released after consideration by the Crown Prosecution 
Service in consultation with the police and relevant victims, witnesses and family members 
includes: 

 

 CCTV footage or photographs showing the defendant and victim, or the victim alone, 
that has been viewed by jury and public in court, subject to any copyright issues; 

 Video and audio tapes of police interviews with defendants, victims, and witnesses; 

 Victim and witness statements. 
 

154. Where a guilty plea is accepted and the case does not proceed to trial, then all the 
foregoing principles apply. But to ensure that only material informing the decision of the 
court is published, material released to the media must reflect the prosecution case and 
must have been read out, or shown in open court, or placed before the sentencing judge. 

 
PROVIDING COPIES/DISTRUBUTING BWV DATA  
 

155. It will be necessary at times to provide copies of BWV recordings within the Council such as 
to Legal Services or externally to third parties, including service of evidence to the defence 
and court. A suitable summary of the evidence will suffice as initial details of the prosecution 

                                                           
60

 Children & Young Persons Act 1933, Section 49 
61

 Youth Justice & Criminal Evidence Act 1999 Section 45 
62

 Protocol for working together: Chief Police Officers, Chief Crown Prosecutors, and the Media 2005  
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/publicity-and-criminal-justice-system  

51

https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/publicity-and-criminal-justice-system


34 
 

case and it should only be necessary to provide copies to the defence in the case of an actual 
or anticipated not guilty plea.  It is important to recognise the master copy of the recorded 
content is likely to including secondary and/or sensitive information which will require 
redaction, such as the address of a witness.  The redacted version will become the working 
copy which is the version to be distributed/served.   

 
SERVICE OF BWV PRODUCT  
 

156. Consideration must also be given as to the appropriate form of service of the working copy 
to safeguard the personal and/or sensitive data contained within it, such as via secure email 
(cjsm) and/or requiring the recipient to sign an undertaking, if for example the content is 
graphic.  Regardless of the method, personal and/or sensitive data must be protected whilst 
in transit. 

 
SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST  
 

157. A Subject Access Request (SAR) is a request by or on behalf of an individual (the Data 
Subject) either orally or in writing, for either confirmation as to whether the organisation is 
using or storing their personal information and/or for example, to request a copy of the 
BWV they are aware filmed the Data Subject.63   Please note, the BWV may form part of the 
evidence or unused material in a live investigation/criminal proceedings.  Further, the BWV 
may include third party and/or sensitive data which may require redactions before and in 
order to facilitate the SAR.  In circumstances where it is known there is a live 
investigation/complaint/criminal proceeding, the council officer with conduct of the SAR 
must refer the request to the Data Protection Officer,64 to ensure the request does not 
bypass the evidential or disclosure process and/or prejudice the proceedings.  The Council 
maintains a register of all SAR including those made verbally.  This aspect of the Policy 
should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Subject Access Request Policy65 and in 
accordance with the BWV Third Party Data Sharing set out above, specifying who and how 
any BWV is to be accessed and provided.  

 
THE RIGHT OF ERASURE 
 

158. Individuals have the right to have their personal data erased,66 which is also known as the 
right to be forgotten.  This right is not absolute and in the context of surveillance can apply 
if: 

 

 The information is no longer necessary for the purpose which you originally collected or 
processed it for; 

 You are relying on legitimate interests as your basis for processing, the individual objects 
to the processing of their information and there is no overriding legitimate interest to 
continue this processing; 

 You have processed the personal information unlawfully (i.e., in breach of the lawfulness 
requirement); or 

 You have to erase it to comply with a specific legal obligation 
 

                                                           
63

 UK GDPR Article 15(1) 
64

 Denise Johnson & Claire Brown 
65

 https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Data-Subject-Request-policy  
66

 UK GDPR Article 17(1)  

52

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Data-Subject-Request-policy


35 
 

159. There are circumstances where the right to erasure cannot be exercised as certain 
exemptions apply.  In the context of surveillance, this may include but it is not limited to: 

 

 Processing necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in 
the exercise of official authority; 

 Certain research activities; or 

 Compliance with a specific legal obligation to process surveillance information  
 
THE RIGHT OF RESTRICTION OF PROCESSING 
 

160. Individuals have the right to restrict the processing of their personal data in certain 
circumstances,67 so can limit the way in which their data is used, as an alternative to 
requesting the erasure of their data.  In the context of surveillance footage, this may be 
because they have issues with the content of the information the Council holds or how it has 
processed their data.  In most cases, the Council will not be required to restrict an 
individual’s personal data indefinitely but will need to have the restriction in place for a 
certain period of time.  The ways in which data can be restricted are: 

 

 Temporarily moving the data to another processing system; 

 Making the data unavailable to users; or 

 Temporarily removing published data from a website 
 
SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS  
 

161. The Home Office Safeguarding Body Worn Video Data (2018) contains the following helpful 
checklists for the Data Controller68: 

 

 SAR Checklist for Data Controller; 

 Visual Data Redaction – Disclosure Requirements 

 Visual Data Redaction Considerations; 

 Visual Data Redaction Techniques; 

 Audio Data Disclosure Requirements; 

 Audio Data Redaction Considerations; 

 Audio Data Redaction Techniques; 

 Output Video and Audio Data Considerations 
 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 
 

162. The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides the public a general right of access to all 
types of recorded information held by public authorities, which may include the digital and 
audio content recorded by BWV devices.  Public authorities include local authorities and 
recorded information includes printed documents, computer files, letters, emails, 
photographs, and sound or video recordings.  There are two exemptions to relating to the 
information about individuals69: 

 

 Is the information personal data of the requester?  If so, then that information is exempt 
from FOIA and instead the requester should make a Subject Access Request (SAR); 

                                                           
67

 UK GDPR Article 18(1) 
68

 Appendix 7 
69

 Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 40 

53



36 
 

 Is the information personal data of other people?  If so, then the Council will only 
disclose the information if: 

 
 First condition  disclosure does not contravene one of the data protection 

principles; 
 Second condition disclosure does not contravene an objection to processing; and 
 Third condition  the information is not exempt from the right of access 

 
 

163. The Act does not give people access to their own personal data (information about 
themselves) such as their health records or credit reference file. If a member of the public 
wants to see information that a public authority holds about them, they should make a data 
protection subject access request (SAR). 

 
EXEMPTIONS TO FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 
 

164. Exemptions to the requirements to disclosure information include: 
 

 National security70;  

 Investigations or proceedings71; 

 Law enforcement72; 

 Personal information73 
 

UNLAWFUL DISCLOSURE TO THIRD PARTIES  
 

165. It is an offence74 for a person, knowingly or recklessly, –  
 

(a) to obtain or disclose personal data without the consent of the controller 
(b) to procure the disclosure of personal data to another person without the consent of the 

controller; or 
(c) after obtaining personal data, to retain it without the consent of the person who was 

the controller or in relation to the personal data when it was obtained. 
 

166. These offences are triable either way and punishable by way of a fine75.  The statutory 
defences available are contained in Section 170(2) and (3) of the Data Protection Act 2018.   

 

 
DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS  
 

167. In addition to considering document storage, retention and destruction, officers must also 
consider their Disclosure Duties & Obligations.  The statutory framework for disclosure is 
Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996, Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act Code 
of Practice76 & Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.77 

                                                           
70

 Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 24 
71

 Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 30 
72

 Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 31 
73

 Freedom of Information Act 2000, Section 40 
74

 Data Protection Act 2018, Section 170(1) 
75

 Data Protection Act 2018, Section 196(2) 
76

 Last revised 2015  
77

 Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, Revised November 2021 

54



37 
 

 
168. There is a duty to record, retain and review material created and/or obtained during an 

investigation, which includes retaining both the used and unused images/audio content of 
BWV recordings.  The Disclosure Officer (DO) is responsible for disclosure within the 
investigation. Their disclosure obligations begin at the start of the investigation, and it 
remains a continuing duty to conduct a thorough investigation and manage all material 
appropriately.   There is also a duty to follow all reasonable lines of inquiry whether they 
point towards or away from a suspect. 

 
169. Unused material is material that is relevant but does not form part of the prosecution case.  

Relevant material is anything that appears to have some bearing on any offence under 
investigation, or any person being investigated, or on the surrounding circumstances 
unless it is capable of having an impact on the case.   

 
170. The DO has a duty to review unused material and compile Disclosure Schedules containing 

Unused Material.  There are two types of Schedules of Unused Material.  Firstly a Schedule 
of Non-Sensitive Unused Material78 which is disclosable to the defence and must be 
provided to the defence either as part of Initial Disclosure and thereafter subsequent 
schedules or updates provided to the defence.  The second is the Schedule of Sensitive 
Unused Material,79 which is not disclosable to the defence due to its contents.  

 
171. In compiling the schedules, the DO must assess each item to determine if it meets the 

Disclosure Test.  The Disclosure Test requires the prosecution to provide the defence copies 
or access to any material which might reasonably be considered capable of undermining the 
prosecution case and/or assisting the defence, which has not been previously disclosed. 

 
172. Once the relevant Schedules of Unused Material have been provided, the prosecutor has a 

duty to review the schedules and relevant documents, in particular the authorisation and 
supporting documents.  If it is determined the material does not assist the defence or 
undermine the prosecution case, there is no requirement to disclose the material to the 
defence.   

 
173. If BWV footage meets the disclosure test, consideration must be given as to whether any 

redactions are required in relation to, for example, members of the public, other family 
members who are not the subjects of criminal proceedings.  Please therefore follow the 
Redactions guidance above. 

 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
HEALTH & SAFETY 
 

174. To ensure the health and safety of Council staff, each team has specific Risk Assessments 
and Safe Systems of Work for the duties they carry out within their roles.  These are 
reviewed at least annually and updated as required, in accordance with the Council’s 
overarching Health & Safety Policy.80 

 
PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY  

                                                           
78

 Form MG6C 
79

 Form MG6D 
80

 https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Health-and-Safety-Policy  

55

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Health-and-Safety-Policy


38 
 

 
175. The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires public bodies to have due regard to the 

need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 

between different people when carrying out their activities. The Council undertakes Equality 

Impact Assessments (EqIA) as a tool to assess how the Council functions and how its policies 

and decisions might impact on certain groups of people with protected characteristics, to 

ensure they do not discriminate against or disadvantage people. The EqIA ensures and 

demonstrates the Council has due regard to its statutory duties.  The Council has undertaken 

an EqIA in relation to this Policy. 

 
OVERSIGHT 
 
APPROVAL OF POLICY 
 

176. The Council’s Body Worn Video Policy and Processes is submitted to the Audit & Resources 
Committee for consideration and then to Cabinet for its approval. 

 
ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICY 
 

177. This Policy will be reviewed annually by the Legal Services Manager. 
 

INTERNAL MONITORING 
 

178. The BWV Authorising Officers will undertake internal reviews of the procedure, system and 
practice to ensure its fit for purpose not less than quarterly and any issues identified will be 
notified to all BWV Authorising Officers for their consideration as to what if any remedial 
steps are required.   

 
COMPLAINTS 
 

179. The Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure is published on its website.81  In addition, all 
reported complaints of the Council’s use of BWV will be reported annually to the Audit and 
Resources Committee.  

 
TRAINING 
 

180. BWV Officers will receive training in the relevant technical aspects of the specific 
equipment being used.  This includes for example, assembly (where necessary), day to day 
use, the capabilities of the devices including how to keep devices and data secure, how to 
download data to the Council’s system, automatic deletion of the data once downloaded to 
the system, to ensure BWV users inform individuals that recording may take place if it is not 
obvious to the individuals in the circumstances and to respond to queries and requests from 
the general public.  Additionally, BWV current and intended officers have received Conflict 
Awareness training. The BWV Authorising Officers maintain a Training Register82, and only 
authorise BWV Officers use of the equipment once they have received the relevant training.  

 
THE INFORMATION COMMISSIONER 

                                                           
81

 https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure  
82

 Appendix 8 

56

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure


39 
 

 
181. The Information Commissioner is the UK’s independent regulator to uphold information 

rights in the public interest, promote openness by public bodies and data privacy for 
individuals.  The Information Commissioner has a broad range of statutory duties, including 
monitoring and enforcement of the GDPR, promotion of good practice and adherence to the 
data protection obligations by those who process personal data.  These duties are in 
addition to the specified statutory regimes the Information Commissioner is empowered to 
take a range of regulatory action for breaches. 

 
THE BIOMETRICS & SURVEILLANCE COMMISSIONER 
 

182. The Biometrics & Surveillance Commissioner83 is the UK’s Independent regulator for 
upholding the use of overt surveillance camera systems by relevant authorities, including 
local authorities, in England and Wales. The functions of the Biometrics & Surveillance 
Commissioner include encouraging compliance with the Code; reviewing the operation of 
the Code; and providing advice about the Code (including changes to it or breaches of it) and 
publish an annual report. 

 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
POLICY REVISION HISTORY 
 

REVISION REVISION DATE 

1 June 2022 

2 August 2022 

3  

 
 
 

                                                           
83

 Fraser Sampson appointed 1 March 2021 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDICES 1 - 8 
 

1 
 

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL’S  
BODY WORN VIDEO POLICY APPENDICES 1-8 

 
APPENDIX 1:  LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER  
 
NAME POSITION  

 
EMAIL  EXTN 

Helen Devereux Legal Services Manager & 
Data Protection Officer  
(Solicitor) 

Helen.Devereux@eastleigh.gov.uk  
 

8155 

 

APPENDIX 2:  BWV AUTHORISING OFFICERS 

NAME POSITION  
 

EMAIL  EXTN 

Helen Devereux Legal Services Manager & 
Data Protection Officer  

Helen.Devereux@eastleigh.gov.uk  
 

8155 

Joanne Cassar Executive Head of Governance & 
Monitoring Officer 

Joanne.Cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk 8015 

James Howe Executive Head of Environment James.Howe@eastleigh.gov.uk 8322 

Louise O’Driscoll Executive Head of Customer Care Louise.O’Driscoll@eastleigh.gov.uk  8248 

Paul Naylor Executive Head of Neighbourhood 
Services  

Paul.Naylor@eastleigh.gov.uk 8370 

Andy Grandfield Executive Head of Planning & 
Economy 

Andy.Grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk 8267 

 

APPENDIX 3: DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT FOR SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS 

Please access the following link to obtain the current DPIA template. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-surveillance-cameras 

  

APPENDIX 4: BWV OFFICERS 

NAME POSITION  
 

EMAIL  EXTN 

Paul Nicolls Parking Operations Team 
Leader 

Paul.Nicholls@eastleigh.gov.uk 8141 

Kirsten Philpot Local Response Officer Kirsten.Philpot@eastleigh.gov.uk  8232 

Ewa Mears Local Response Officer Ewa.Mears@eastleigh.gov.uk  8063 

Jamie Edwards Local Response Officer Jamie.Edwards@eastleigh.gov.uk 8138 

Matthew Parr Local Response Officer Matthew.Parr@eastleigh.gov.uk 8417 

Steve Probert Local Response Officer Steve.Probert@eastleigh.gov.uk 07881757772 

Tom Lodwidge Local Response Officer Tom.Lodwidge@eastleigh.gov.uk  8153 

Jack Taylor Local Response Officer Jack.Taylor@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

8071 

Richard Nolan Senior Civil Enforcement 
Officer 

Richard.Nolan@eastleigh.gov.uk 8478 

Michael Rogers Civil Enforcement Officer Michael.Rogers@eastleigh.gov.uk  

59

mailto:Rosie.Evans@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Rosie.Evans@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Joanne.Cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:James.Howe@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Naylor@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Andy.Grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-protection-impact-assessments-for-surveillance-cameras
mailto:Paul.Nicholls@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsten.Philpot@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Ewa.Mears@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Jamie.Edwards@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Matthew.Parr@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Steve.Probert@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Tom.Lodwidge@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Jack.Taylor@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.Nolan@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Michael.Rogers@eastleigh.gov.uk


APPENDICES 1 - 8 
 

2 
 

 

NAME POSITION  
 

EMAIL  EXTN 

Robert Dickie-
MacKenzie 

Civil Enforcement Officer Rob.dickie-
mackenzie@eastleigh.gov.uk  

 

Sara Hicks Civil Enforcement Officer Sara.Hicks@eastleigh.gov.uk  

    

 

APPENDIX 5:  BWV STAFF USER GUIDE 

This Appendix is in a separate document 

 

APPENDIX 6:  BWV THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING REGISTER 

This Appendix is in a separate document with restricted access  

 

APPENDIX 7: BWV SAR GUIDANCE CHECKLISTS 

This Appendix is in a separate document 

 

APPENDIX 8: BWV TRAINING REGISTER 

This Appendix is in a separate document  

 

60

mailto:Rob.dickie-mackenzie@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.dickie-mackenzie@eastleigh.gov.uk
mailto:Sara.Hicks@eastleigh.gov.uk


APPENDIX 5 

1 
 

 

  

 

BODY WORN VIDEO (BWV’s)  

STAFF USER GUIDE   

 

 

 

AUGUST 2022 

 

 

61



APPENDIX 5 

2 
 

INTRODUCTION – BWV STATUTORY FRAMEWORK  
 
The Council’s Corporate Policy and Procedure for the use of Body Worn Video Devices (BWV Policy)1 
has been approved by the Council’s Cabinet2 and sets out the statutory framework and procedures 
that permit the Council’s lawful use of this overt surveillance technique, whilst ensuring the Council 
complies with the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice and all relevant legislation to ensure its use 
does not infringe a person’s rights under Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA). BWVs are an 
overt portal system which provide an audio, video or photographic record of activities undertaken 
and/or witnessed by a BWV Officer.   
 
This Staff User Guide provides a practical guide for Council staff to ensure their correct use of BWV 
in line with Councils overarching BWV Policy.  
 
BWV OFFICERS 

 Only trained and authorised staff known as BWV Officers3 are permitted by the Council to 
use BWV and they must have read this staff guide and received training from a BWV 
Authorised Officer4.  

 
BWV AUTHORISED OFFICERS 

 BWV Authorised Officers are responsible for day-to-day management and have access to the 
securely retained BWV footage.  

 
 

BODY WORN VIDEO PROCESS 
 
BWV SYSTEM 

 The Council’s BWV system is “Reveal”  

 The BWV process is managed by the Parking Operations Team Leader and Local Operations 
& Parking Manager  

 BWV Officers are provided a specific device which is electronically allocated to them during 
the one-off user set up.  
 

START OF SHIFT PROCEDURE  

 BWV Officers to collect their pre-issued device from the docking station at the 
commencement of their shift. The Reveal software will automatically make a log of the 
equipment being booked out by the user.   
 

UNIFORM & POSITIONING OF BWV 

 BWV Officers uniform should visually indicate they are wearing a BWV device 

 The BWV device should be positioned on the chest with a forward-facing display visible to 
persons being recorded 

 
MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT 

 BWV Officer to ensure device is in working order before commencing duty  

 Any malfunction of equipment must be reported.5   

                                                           
1
 Insert link to BWV Policy  

2
 15 September 2022  

3
 Appendix 4  

4
 Appendix 2 

62



APPENDIX 5 

3 
 

 Checks should ensure:  
o the unit is correctly assembled;  
o recording picture is the right way up;  
o sound recording level is appropriate to use and operator adjustable settings are 

made appropriately 
o the system time and date settings are correct 
o the internal battery is fully charged 

 
DECISION TO RECORD AN INCIDENT 

 To decide to record, use of BWV must be: 
i. Legitimate Aim:  Used in the pursuit of a legitimate aim such as public safety     

                                    or the prevention or detection of crime 
ii. Necessary:                 For a pressing need 
iii. Proportionate:          The purpose of the deployment must be proportionate to  

                                    what is sought to be achieved 

 Recordings must be incident specific  

 Only record where BWV Officer user would previously have made a written record of the 
encounter for example in their pocket notebook and/or within a statement  

 Do not record beyond what is necessary for their deployed specified purpose in order to 
ensure the recording is not excessive. 

 
GENERAL PATROLLING 

 Do not record general patrolling duties or entire patrols unless it is part of a specific 
operation/incident 

 When reviewing the footage consideration must be given to whether any redactions are 
required of the visual and/or audio content (see Redactions)  
 

WHEN TO START RECORDING 

 Recordings should commence at the start of any deployment to an incident and should 
continue uninterrupted until the incident is concluded, either because of resumption of 
normal patrolling or because recording has commenced through another video system (e.g., 
town centre CCTV) 
 

VERBAL ANNOUNCEMENT PRIOR TO RECORDING  

 Prior to switching on the BWV, the Officer must wherever possible/practicable verbally 
announce to the data subject(s) of an encounter: 

o the date, time, and location; 
o video and audio recording is/is going to take place using BWV; 
o purpose(s) for which the footage is intended to be processed/nature of the 

incident to which the user is deployed; 
o confirmation to those present that the incident is now being recorded using 

both video and audio; 
o Any further information that is necessary for processing to be fair 

 If not practicable due to an on-going incident, then the announcement should be made 
as soon as possible afterwards. 

 If the recording has started prior to the officer’s arrival at the scene of the incident, they 
should as soon as practicable announce to those present that recording is taking place 
and that their actions and sounds are being recorded.   

                                                                                                                                                                                     
5
 To be reported to Paul Nicolls (Parking Operations Team Leader) or Kirsten Philpot (Local Response Officer) 

63



APPENDIX 5 

4 
 

 Announcements should be made using straightforward language such as: 
o I am audio and video recording you; 
o I am audio and video recording this incident; 
o Everything you say and do is being recorded; 

 
VERBAL ANNOUCMENT PRIOR TO ENDING OF RECORDING 

 BWV Officer should continue to record for a short period after the incident to clearly 
demonstrate to any subsequent viewer the incident has concluded 

 Prior to concluding the recording, the BWV user should make a verbal announcement to 
indicate the reason for ending the recording, which should include: 

o Date, time, and location; and 
o Reason for concluding the recording; 

 
BWV IN PRIVATE DWELLINGS 

 Reasons for recording an incident at a private dwelling will have to be far greater to satisfy it 
is justified and proportionate.  

 Verbal announcement the recording is taking place is particularly important when in a 
private dwelling, such as attending a home address regarding a complaint of noise nuisance 
or anti-social behaviour. 

 The rights of individuals to respect for private and family life6 must be carefully considered 
when considering whether to use BWV in a private dwelling, as it is likely to be particularly 
intrusive, especially during the times of day when occupants are likely to be in bed.   

 BWV Officers should exercise their discretion and only record when it is relevant to the 
incident and necessary for gathering evidence, where other reasonable means of doing so 
are not available and the recording is relevant to the incident.   

 If one party objects to the recording taking place, for example where it is a noise nuisance 
complaint from a tenant in a shared let property, officers should continue to record while 
explaining the reasons for recording continuously, such as: 

o an incident has occurred requiring Council officers to attend; 
o there is a requirement to secure best evidence of any offences that have occurred 

whether this is in writing or on video, the video evidence will be more accurate and 
higher quality and therefore it is in the interests of all parties to record it, such as 
the level of noise created by a shared occupancy tenant playing excessively loud 
music over a prolonged period, in order to prove the noise is a statutory nuisance; 

o continuing to record would safeguard both parties, with a true and accurate 
recording of any significant statement made by either party and of the scene; 

o incident may reoccur in the immediate future; 
o continuing to record will safeguard the officer against any potential allegations from 

either party; 
o any non-evidential material will be retained for a maximum of 6 months only; 
o the material is restricted and cannot be disclosed to third parties without the 

subject’s express authority, unless prescribed and permitted by law; 
o recorded material is Council information and can be accessed on request in writing 

in according with Freedom of Information Requests, unless and exemption applies 
and is also accessible by a subject access request. 

 If at any point it becomes clear the incident would no longer be the subject matter of an 
entry in the officer’s pocket notebook, then the officer should cease recording. 

                                                           
6
 Article 8 ECHR 

64



APPENDIX 5 

5 
 

 Footage taken in private dwellings should be deleted as soon as is practicable once it has 
been checked and confirmed it is not relevant to any criminal investigation/prosecution or 
complaint. 

 
WITNESS FIRST ACCOUNTS 

 If the BWV officer is approached by victims or witnesses who are giving their first account of 
the crime, the officer may record the encounter which should be treated as an evidential 
recording.  The first account is principally about determining any action that is immediately 
necessary.  Officers should only ask questions as are necessary to: 

o establish if an offence has been committed; 
o establish where it occurred and who was responsible; 
o assess the current risk to the victim(s) and witness(es); 
o identify and priorities areas of the investigation; 

 Such recordings do not replace the need for formal written statements from victims or 
witnesses but are to be used as supporting evidence.  If multiple witnesses wish to give their 
accounts to a Council officer wearing a BWV, then wherever practicable, witnesses should 
be kept physically separate to avoid contaminating descriptions or other evidence.   

 Bookmarking process should be used so that individual accounts can be easily separated 

 BWV officers are also required to produce a statement of the first account.  If the victim 
does not consent to be video recorded, the BWV officer may consider diverting the camera 
away from the victim, disconnecting the camera or obscuring the lenses and recording the 
encounter only using the audio facility. The explicit consent of the victim must be obtained 
prior to beginning either form of the recording. 

 
SCENE REVIEW AND PREMISES SEARCHING 

 BWV can be used to record the location of objects and evidence at a crime scene and/or 
during the search of premises 

 
LIMITATIONS ON USE 

 BWV recordings are not appropriate in certain circumstances such as: 
o Legal privilege – e.g., consultation with suspect and his solicitor; 
o Private dwellings – there must be clear justification for using BWV and the user must 

not record beyond what is justifiable, lawful, necessary, and proportionate for the 
evidential requirements of the case; 

o BWV should not be used for formal investigative interviews (PACE interviews) with 
certain witnesses, nor may it be used for interviewing suspects; 

o Users should exercise care in using BWV where it may cause serious offence, for 
example during religious worship 

 
END OF SHIFT & BACK-OFFICE SYSTEM 

 BWV users must ensure any BWV footage confirmed during the course of their shift to be 
required for evidential purposes, is correctly bookmarked and any Incident Report is 
completed. 

 At the conclusion of their shift, BWV officers are individually responsible for ensuring their 
allocated BWV device is returned to its secure location and correctly connected to the 
docking station to enable downloading of recordings onto the secure back-office system and 
charging of the device.      

 Once complete the device indicates “Upload Complete,” following which the footage will 
automatically be deleted from the device. 

 
REFERRAL TO POLICE 

65



APPENDIX 5 

6 
 

 For incidents where the police were not in attendance a BWV Authorising Officer will review 

the footage in consultation with the BWV Officer to decide whether a referral to the police is 

appropriate. 

 If a decision is made not to refer the incident to the police, the BWV footage shall be 

uploaded in the usual way and retained for 6 months.  

 If a decision is made to refer the incident to the police it is reported via 101, including the 

fact there is BWV footage.  If the police pursue an investigation it requests the footage via a 

DP2 Form, the footage is downloaded from the system onto an encrypted USB, uploaded to 

the standalone DEMS PC and sent to the police via DEMS.  The fact of the police referral is 

recorded within the Council’s Health and Safety Incident Record and therefore it is not 

necessary to maintain a separate BWV police referral register. 

 

TECHNICAL GUIDANCE FOR BWV DEVICES  
 
RETENTION CHECKS & PERIOD 

 The BWV footage must be transferred to the Back Office System where it is retained in an 
incident folder for an initial period of 6 months, during which the officer must  determine if 
the footage is required for an investigation, prosecution, complaint and/or appeal.  If the 
footage is required as evidence, it must be marked for retention in the same incident folder 
for the duration of the complaint and appeal and/or investigation and prosecution in 
accordance with Disclosure Obligations.7 

 
DELETION & DISPOSAL 

 After 6 months the system will automatically delete material unless it has been retained in 
an Incident folder. 

 Incident folders should not be deleted without authority from the officer in charge of the 
investigation and if required, from Legal Services. 
 

STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT  

 When allocated BWV devices are not in use by the officer, they should be securely stored in 
the allocated secure location. 

 
DEVICE’S ELECTRONIC AUDIT TRAILS 

 The following automatic electronic audit trails are contained and accessible from the device: 
 

FEATURE SUMMARY 

Audit Log Filter option by date range, user or action 

Booking Log Who booked out, location, personal issue or not 

Reports  Model, date added to DEMS 360, date decommissioned if  
Applicable, last recording date, last booking date, current booking date, booker 
user and allocated location if applicable  

Camera Booking Log Activity for every camera, booking state, user, location and full booking history 

User’s Activity Number of uploaded files, deleted files, burned files, exported files and 
snapshots created 

User’s Uploading 
Statistics  

Count of following files: 
non-evidential, evidential, deleted, total,  
Total duration and total size 

 

                                                           
7
 BWV Policy – Disclosure Duties & Obligations  

66



APPENDIX 5 

7 
 

 
SAFEGUARDING BWV DATA  
 
The BWV Policy8 provides comprehensive guidance on the safeguarding of BWV data. On overview is 
provide below for any officers responsible for handling BWV Data.   
 
DATA RECORDED BY BWV DEVICES 

 BWV devices capture 2 categories of information  
i. Primary Information Intentionally recorded and relevant E.g. First Accounts 
ii. Secondary Information  Unintentionally recorded & not relevant E.g., Family photos 

 Secondary Information may also be sensitive  

 Be aware of and use greater discretion when recording in special locations e.g., private 
home where secondary information may be recorded 

 
CONSEQUENCES OF LOST DATA 

 Any data breach must be reported to the Data Protection Team9 who will determine 
whether to report it to the ICO 

 
MASTER COPY 

 BWV Officer to create a Master Copy of the BWV footage at the earliest opportunity  

 Ensure Master Copy is: 
o labelled or named and kept in accordance with the exhibit protocol 
o Not used except to make further copies  
o All use and movement are logged in the audit trail 
 

WORKING COPY 

 BWV Officer must create a Working Copy which is to be used for the investigation, 
preparation of the prosecution file and if the matter progresses to criminal proceedings 
 

PLAYBACK 

 Playback only permitted and facilitated if formally requested in writing 

 A playback record is automatically electronically recorded by the Reveal PC software 
 

CONTINUITY 

 To prove authenticity and continuity of recordings, BWV Officers must produce continuity 
statements10 

 
PREPARATION OF A PROSECUTION FILE 

 BWV Officers should liaise with Legal Services at an early stage  

 provide Legal Services with full information accompanying any evidential digital images, this 
might include audit trails, maintenance logs, viewing logs and disclosure schedules; 

 list and describe any unused and/or un-viewed material clearly; 

 ensure that viewing logs used for moving images highlight relevant sequences; 

 provide Legal Services with accurate information about the preferred format for revelation 
in order to reduce the loss of image quality; 

                                                           
8
 BWV Policy paragraphs 121 onwards 

9
 Data Protection Team email – dp@eastleigh.gov.uk 

10
 BWV Policy paragraph 135 – Continuity Statement  

67

mailto:dp@eastleigh.gov.uk


APPENDIX 5 

8 
 

 consider the format in which the image is provided to Legal Services in order to facilitate 
viewing and replay; 

 liaise with the Legal Specialist to ensure that viewing and replay is possible prior to trial. It 
should be noted that it is often not practical to play the native format at court 
 

EVIDENTIAL STATEMENTS 

 If the BWV footage provides better evidence than an officer’s recollection, notebook entry 
and subsequent statement and covers the whole incident, only provide a statement of 
matters for example outside of the view of the camera 

 Include continuity of the audit trail (see Continuity) 

 

TECHNICAL FAILURE 

 If technical failure of the equipment occurs - a traditional witness statement of the incident 
should be produced. 

 
EXHIBITS 

 Produce the working copy as your Exhibit of the incident and if enhancements required, 
ensure the statement explains the reason for and nature of enhancement  
 

TRANSCRIPTS 

 Rarely required in addition to the footage e.g. if sound quality is poor 
 

REDACTIONS 

 Can be audio and/or visual 

 Redactions include editing/censoring/obstructing those parts of a recording that contain 
collateral intrusion of non-suspects/third parties; sensitive information; expose investigatory 
tactics or compromise operational strategies 

 Can be audio and/or visual 

 May require removing sections of a recording; concealing or masking visual objects such as 
pixelating photos, blurring, masking or using a solid fill to completely obscure parts of the 
footage; removing metadata and muting parts of the audio content  
 

COPIES 

 Ensure copies are prepared in a timely manner and do not lose image quality, date or time 
information  

 
THIRD PARTY DATA SHARING  

 All BWV footage third party requests must be in writing via a DP2 Form unless urgent, then 
can be oral requests  

 Access to BWV footage is restricted so the request cannot be processed by the Data 
Protection Team 

 Record request in the BWV Team Centrally Retrievable Third party Data Sharing Register11 
and email a copy of the DP2 to the Data Protection Team12 

 
DATA SHARING WITH THE MEDIA 

                                                           
11

 Appendix 5 
12

 Data Protection Team email – dp@eastleigh.gov.uk  

68

mailto:dp@eastleigh.gov.uk


APPENDIX 5 

9 
 

 Automatic restriction on reporting information that identifies or is likely to identify any 
person under 18 who is concerned in Youth Court proceedings as a victim, witness or 
defendant 

 Discretionary power to restrict reporting the identity of victim, witnesses and defendant 
under 18 who appear in the Magistrates’ or Crown Court 

 Where there is guilty plea and no trial, the evidence provided to the media must have been 
read out, shown in open court or placed before the sentencing Judge 

 Officers are permitted to provide the Media prosecution material that has been served and 
adduced in court  

 Do not provide material to the media without consultation with and authorisation from 
Legal Services 

 
PROVIDING COPIES FOR THE DEFENCE 

 A suitable summary of the evidence is sufficient to be served for the initial details of the 
prosecution case 

 Only necessary to provide copies of the BWV footage where there is an actual or anticipated 
guilty plea 

 Ensure all copies are provided via a secure email system 
 
SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST 

 Subject Access Request (SAR) is a request by or on behalf of an individual (Data Subject) 
either orally or in writing, for information as to whether the Council is using or storing their 
personal information and/or to request a copy of the BWV footage which includes the Data 
Subject 

 Be on notice there may be a live investigation/criminal proceedings and/or the footage may 
contain third party data and/or sensitive data which will require redactions before service 

 Officer receiving SAR must refer to the Data Protection Team13 to ensure the request does 
not bypass the evidential or disclosure process and/or prejudice live proceedings  

 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 

 The public have a general right of access to recorded information held by public authorities 
including the digital and audio content of BWV devices 

 Two exemptions relating to the information about individuals: 
o Is the information personal data of the requester? If so, exemption applies and 

requested should submit a SAR 
o Is the information personal information about third parties?  If so, the Council will 

only disclose the information when 3 conditions are satisfied  
 

UNLAWFUL DISCLOSURE TO THIRD PARTIES 

 It is an offence14 for a person knowingly or recklessly –  
(a) to obtain or disclose personal data without the consent of the controller 
(b) to procure the disclosure of personal data to another person without the consent of the 

controller; or 
(c) after obtaining personal data, to retain it without the consent of the person who was 

the controller or in relation to the personal data when it was obtained; 
 

DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS  

                                                           
13

 Data Protection Team email – dp@eastleigh.gov.uk  
14

 Data Protection Act 2018, Section 170(1) 

69

mailto:dp@eastleigh.gov.uk


APPENDIX 5 

10 
 

 In addition to considering document storage, retention and destruction, officers must also 
consider their Disclosure Duties & Obligations15.  The statutory framework for disclosure is 
Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996, Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act Code 
of Practice16 & Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.17 
 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
HEALTH & SAFETY  

 Each team has specific Risk Assessments & Safe Systems of Work and the Council has 
an overarching Health & Safety Policy18 

                                                           
15

 BWV Policy paragraphs 167 – 173  
16

 Last revised 2015  
17

 Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, Revised November 2021 
18

 https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Health-and-Safety-Policy  

70

https://staffhub.eastleigh.gov.uk/s/article/Health-and-Safety-Policy


APPENDIX 6 - BWV Third Party Data Sharing Register

DATE OF DP2 DATE OF URGENT ORAL REQUEST DATE REQUEST SUBMITTED TO EBC DATE NOTIFIED TO DP TEAM BWV SPOC DP SPOC DEADLINE TO PROCESS REQUEST EXCEPTIONS APPLY? APPLICABLE EXCEPTION(S) DATE DP2 RESPONDED TO

71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 7 

SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST (SAR) GUIDANCE CHECKLIST 

 

CHECKLIST FOR DATA CONTROLLER 

Considerations for the Data Controller when processing a Subject Access Request: 

CONSIDERATION 
 

REASON DETAILS  

Verify identity of the 
Data Subject 

Avoid disclosing personal data to 
the wrong person 

- Recent photograph 
- Clothing description 
- Voice sample 

Obtain contact details 
of Data Subject 

Understand nature of the request 
and manage expectations 

- Purpose of request 
- Explain disclosure policies  
- Timescales  

Locate all BWV data Data Subject’s personal 
information may appear in more 
than one BWV recording 

- Time and date  
- Location 
- BWV’s user’s name & ID 
- Type of event 

Impact on policing Disclosure of data could prejudice 
security 

- Prevention & detection of crime 
- Investigation & prosecution of 

crime 
- Public or National security  

Impact on partner 
agencies 

Agreement on data disclosure for 
partner agency personnel 

- Blue light services 
- Civil enforcement 
- Health & Community care 

Impact on third parties Internal policy for disclosing third 
party data either with or without 
consent 

- Subject’s family members 
- Subject’s friends & associates 
- Any personnel in their workplace 

Location where 
recording took place 
  

Increased Likelihood of third 
party personal data in some 
circumstances 

- Hospitals 
- Schools 
- Residential Care 
- Place of worship 

Decreased expectation of privacy 
in some circumstances 

- Shopping centres 
- Transport hubs 
- The High Street  

Potential circulation of 
data 

Likelihood that redacted video 
will be further circulated by the 
Data Subject 

- Mainstream media 
- Social media platforms 
- Open source video platforms  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

73



APPENDIX 7 

VISUAL DATA REDACTION CONSIDERATIONS  

Visual data that does not need to be disclosed to the Data Subject  

TYPE 
 

EXAMPLE 

Data Subject’s indirect identifying features 
either adjoining or overlapping third party data 

- Person walking behind Data Subject 
- Child held close to Data Subject  

BWV User’s indirect identifying features - Jewellery 
- Scars and tattoos 
- Badge number 

Other Blue Light personnel - Firefighter attending an incident 
- Medica working in a hospital  

Other partner agencies personnel - Social working attending an incident 
- Highways officer managing traffic 

Third party associated with the event - Witness 
- Victim 

Third party not associated with the event - Person walking around the incident 
- Driver in slowing vehicle 

Third party known to the Data Subject - Member of the family 
- Neighbour 

Location information  - House and street names 
- Local landmarks 

Vehicle identification - Number plates 
- Company branding 

General information  - Contextual data 
- Time and date in BWV recording  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



APPENDIX 7 

VISUAL DATA REDACTION TECHNIQUES 

Technical methods that can be applied to redact video data 

TECHNIQUE ACCEPTABLE APPLICATION 
 

NOTES 

Mask Shape Fixed shapes such as oblongs, circles 
and ovals that can be scaled and 
rotated 

Free form shapes or polygons are 
complex and time consuming for 
little benefit  

Mask overlap Mask can be larger than feature or 
object so it does not require alteration 
under small movements 

Balance required to ensure no or 
limited redaction of Data Subject 

Mask fill (solid) Use of an opaque colour to completely 
obscure data 

Most secure and consistent 
method to obscure data 

Mask fill 
(blurring & 
pixilation)  

Ensure level is consistent and effective 
throughout the clip 

Greater caution necessary to 
ensure effective redaction though 
helps to retain a degree of context 
to the event 

Single mask 
(general) 

Best to cover the entire body rather 
than just the head 

It may be possible to indirectly  
identify third party through unique 
clothing, jewellery or tattoos  

Single mask 
(close to Data 
Subject) 

Some minimal redaction for the Data 
Subject is allowed to avoid disclosure 
of other personal data 

A common example is people not 
involved with the incident walking 
behind the Data Subject  

 

75



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 8  

APPENDIX 8:  BODY WORN VIDEO TRAINING REGISTER  
 
The following EBC persons have received Training: 
 

NAME  OFFICER/ 
LEGAL 

POSITION  Compulsory Training Recommended Training 

2022 
 

  Read BWV Staff User Guide 
(insert date completed) 

Equipment Demonstration 
from BWV Authorising 
Officer (insert date 
completed)  

CMS Training - Managing Conflict 
& Personal Safety Training (to be 
refreshed every 2 years) (insert 
date completed) 

Kirsten Philpot Officer  Local Response Officer   14/2/2022 

Ewa Mears Officer Local Response Officer   14/2/2022 

Heather Sellen Officer Local Response Officer   14/2/2022 

Jamie Edwards Officer Local Response Officer   14/2/2022 

Matthew Parr Officer Local Response Officer   14/2/2022 

Michael Rogers Officer Civil Enforcement Officer    14/2/2022 

Richard Nolan Officer Senior Civil Enforcement 
Officer 

  14/2/2022 

Robert Dickie-
MacKenzie 

Officer Civil Enforcement Officer   14/2/2022 

Steve Probert Officer Local Response Office   14/2/2022 

Tom Lodwidge Officer Local Response Office   14/2/2022 

Chris Hutchings Officer Local Response Office   14/2/2022 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 

77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 6 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

 

Title of EqIA: 
 

Corporate Policy and Procedure for use of Body Worn Video 
Cameras  

Brief description of the 
Proposal: 

The Corporate Policy and Procedure for use of Body Worn 
Videos sets out the statutory framework and procedures which 
permit the Council’s lawful use of the overt surveillance 
technique known as Body Worn Videos (BWV), whilst ensuring 
the public authority does not infringe a person’s Article 8 rights.  
 

Summary of Impacts 
and Issues: 

The primary consideration of this EqIA in the context of BWV 
use, is the protection of a person’s article 8 rights – their right to 
respect for their private and family life, their home and their 
correspondence.  
 
The BWV Policy and Procedure follows the Surveillance Camera 
Code of Practice, and sets out the Council procedures for use of 
BWV to ensure the protection of peoples right to privacy and the 
protection of their personal data in line with the Data Protection 
Act 2018.   
 

Potential Positive 
Impacts: 

 Significantly enhances the quality of evidence provided by 

law enforcement officers; 

 Provides an independent, reliable, real time evidential 

capture of an event/incident as precisely as possible 

limited only by the field of view and audio range of the 

device; 

 Promotes positive behaviour and interaction between the 

wearer and member(s) of the public; 

 Assist in the drive to reduce crime and the fear of crime 

and increase the proportion of offences brought to justice 

Provide a greater impact than street CCTV as they can 

be deployed at any position within an incident; those 

present quickly learn the recordings include sound and 

BWVs are more obvious than other CCTV systems; 

 Assists in the investigation of a complaint and/or alleged 

offence(s) arising out of an event/incident, thus reducing 

investigation time for unwarranted complaints; 

 Assists the court to see and hear the incident through the 

eyes and ears of the officer at the scene, thereby gaining 

a real understanding of the actions of the accused; 

 Time efficient saving by producing an exhibit of the 

recording, saving officer recording the incident as a 

statement or in their pocket notebook; 

 Assist in officer development as there is an ability to 

review their performance in detail after an incident; 

79



ANNEX 6 

 

What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out?  

None currently.  
 
 
 

 

Assessment 

For all of categories below please consider: 

1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination? 

2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?  

3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 

80



ANNEX 6 

 

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with protected characteristics.  

Impact Assessment Details of Impact  Possible Solutions/ Mitigating Factors 

Age: Protection of article 8 rights  
 

The BWV Policy and Procedure follows the Surveillance 
Camera Code of Practice and sets out the Council 
procedures for use of BWV to ensure the protection of 
peoples right to privacy and the protection of their 
personal data in line with the Data Protection Act 2018.   
 
BWV is only used when necessary, proportionate and in 
pursuit of a legitimate aim, such as public safety and the 
prevention and detection of crime.  
 
Please see 12 guiding principles in the Policy and 
Procedure document as well as the data storage and 
processing procedures which ensure the protection of 
personal data in line with the Data Protection Act 2018.   
 
The Council has authorised the use of BWV by specific 
teams and their named BWV User Authorised Officers, 
who are required to undergo training, before and in order 
to be authorised. 
 
The Council has also authorised specific officers to be 
given access to the BWV material, known as BWV 
Access Authorised Officers. 
 

Gender reassignment: 
 

Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above  

Marriage and civil 
partnership: 
 

Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

81



ANNEX 6 

Pregnancy and maternity: Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

Race: Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

Religion or belief: Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

Sex: 
 

Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

Sexual Orientation: Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

Social deprivation - please 
highlight what impact could 
there be on people 
experiencing social 
deprivation: 

Protection of article 8 rights  
 

As above 

Disability: BWV procedure ensures individuals are notified 
when officers are using BWV which may capture 
audio, video or photographic footage of them. It is 
therefore important to consider people with 
disabilities – particularly those with sensory 
impairments – to ensure notification is 
communicated in an appropriate format.  
 

The Council’s use of BWV will be reiterated by officers 
wearing a symbol/sign on their uniform.  Further, the 
BWV device will be in a prominent position (normally on 
their chest) and its forward facing display will be visible to 
persons being recorded. The BWV also has a flashing 
red light when recording is taking place.  
 
Prior to switching on the BWV, the user must wherever 
possible/practicable verbally announce to the data 
subject that video and audio recording is/is going to take 
place using BWV (see paragraph 104. and 105. of the 
BWV Policy).  
 
By utilising both these methods it ensures that individuals 
with hearing or visual impairments are not discriminated 
against and are suitably notified when BWV is in use.  

82



ANNEX 6 

Other significant Impacts: None  
 

 

 

Action Plan   

Activity  Outcome Timeframe Person responsible 

    

    

    

 

Lead Officer: Harry Lee 

Manager: Angela Taylor  

Corporate Director:  

Date completed: 22/06/2022 

 

 

83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday, 15 September 2022  

CORPORATE KPI REVIEW 2022/23 

Report of the Resource Manager  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 Approves the proposed changes to the Corporate Key Performance 
Indicators for 2022/23 at Appendix 1.   

 Considers and approves recommendations arising from Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel on 14 July 2022. 

 

Summary 
 

 The report proposes amendments to the Corporate Key Performance Indicator 
listing for 2022/23 in line with the ambitions of the Council and to achieve more 
effective management of performance.   

Statutory Powers 
 

 Local Government Act 1972 and Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The Council’s Corporate Key Performance Indicator (KPI) listing focuses on 
the delivery of statutory or business as usual services, whilst aligning 
measures to the Council’s strategic direction. The Corporate KPI listing 
provides good insight into the Council’s overall performance and can suggest 

how the Council is positioned to achieve its strategic objectives.   

Introduction 

2. The aim of the Corporate KPI review is to enable reporting against a suite of 
indicators that, with narrative, collectively provide a good overview of the 
Council’s performance. The review also aims to provide organisational 
alignment in ensuring that the achievement of overall ambitions and the 
delivery of core services is monitored. 

85

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3. A review of our Corporate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) has been 
undertaken in line with the Council’s current ambitions. The Council’s existing 
KPIs have been set for a number of years and have only seen minor changes 
during that time. The KPI listing does give a fair overview of Council 
performance, but there are some omissions due to the Council’s changing 
ambitions and the changing national position. Some indicators focus on 
business-as-usual service, as the performance of these functions is critical 
alongside KPIs measuring the achievement of the Council’s ambitious 
projects and initiatives.   

4. The Council currently reports performance against its full list of indicators on a 
quarterly basis through Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel with a 
summarised report taken to Cabinet. The Council’s quarterly performance 
reporting process allows for the escalation of Service Performance Indicators 
(SPIs) through the Executive Summary Reports (ESRs) and the review has 
made recommendations on SPIs direct to the relevant Executive Heads.  

5. Feedback received prior to the review was compiled and incorporated into the 
review process alongside discussions with Executive Heads, Service 
Managers and Portfolio Holders. Commentary from the Strategic Planning 
Team was sought as well as from other members of staff involved in the 
Council’s performance monitoring process.  

6. Existing KPIs were reviewed, and a recommendation is included to either, 
retain, alter or remove the indicator. New additions to the corporate KPI listing 
were considered based on the Council’s ambitions, feedback received and on 
occasion, existing statutory reporting. During discussions, recommendations 
for service performance indicators (SPIs) were also made, some of which will 
be escalated through the quarterly Executive Summary Report (ESRs) 
throughout 2022/23. A report was shared with Policy and Performance 
Scrutiny Panel on Thursday 14 July 2022. The panel noted the 
recommendations and further commentary can be found in paragraph 14 of 
this report.  

7. Where evidence shows that the threshold (target) should be reviewed, these 
changes have been carefully considered and are proposed within the 
appended revised KPIs.  

8. Appendix 1 details the recommended changes as well as eleven further 
recommendations. Appendix 2 provides further detail on the proposed 
changes including commentary from the review.  

Financial Implications 

9. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, however, by 
ensuring performance is monitored robustly, the Council can ensure it is 
operating efficiently which can influence the Council’s financial position. 

86

bookmark://Finance%22%20/o%20%22This%20paragraph%20is%20compulsory.%20All%20reports%20must%20state%20any%20financial%20implications%20arising%20from%20the%20report%20including%20existing%20budget%20provision,%20any%20proposed%20virements%20or%20requests%20for%20additional%20funding.
bookmark://Finance%22%20/o%20%22This%20paragraph%20is%20compulsory.%20All%20reports%20must%20state%20any%20financial%20implications%20arising%20from%20the%20report%20including%20existing%20budget%20provision,%20any%20proposed%20virements%20or%20requests%20for%20additional%20funding.
bookmark://Finance%22%20/o%20%22This%20paragraph%20is%20compulsory.%20All%20reports%20must%20state%20any%20financial%20implications%20arising%20from%20the%20report%20including%20existing%20budget%20provision,%20any%20proposed%20virements%20or%20requests%20for%20additional%20funding.


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

10. The corporate key performance indicator monitoring process can be used as a 
barometer and early warning of problems that may arise. Many of the 
Council’s KPIs are aligned to statutory processing timescales and so 
appropriate monitoring can manage the risk of service failings and appropriate 
action can be promptly taken to mitigate the risk.    

Equality and Diversity Implications 

11. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

12. There are no significant Climate Change implications from this report, or in the 
monitoring of corporate key performance indicators. However, three additional 
corporate key performance indicators that relate to Climate Change have 
been proposed. The proposal has been made in order to assist in the 
monitoring of the position. 
 

Conclusion 

13. The report and its accompanying documents summarise the proposed 
changes to the Council’s key performance indicators following the 2022/23 
review.  

14. Following scrutiny by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel, two 
recommendations were made. These were to introduce a KPI to monitor the 
speed of asset transfers and that statutory KPIs are highlighted for easier 
identification. The progress of asset transfers is monitored through the 
Council’s Asset Board and work is under-way to determine how performance 
is best monitored, noting that there isn’t a standard transfer and the impact of 
third parties on timescales. Staff believe that Service Level Agreements 
between teams would speed up the internal part of the process which is 
something that that we can control. Considerations will feed into the KPI 
review for 2023/24 which will begin in the coming months, Statutory indicators 
will be highlighted within the performance data shared with Policy and 
Performance should approval be given.   

15. It is recommended that Cabinet consider the recommendations from the Panel 
and approve the proposed changes. 

 

LEWIS GOOLD 
RESOURCE MANAGER 

 
Date: 15 August 2022 
Contact Officer: Lewis Goold  
Tel No: 023 80688137 

87



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

e-mail: lewis.goold@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 2 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

88



APPENDIX 1 

Corporate Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Review – 2022/23 

AIM  

The aim of the review is to produce and report against a suite of indicators that with 

narrative, collectively provides a good overview of the Council’s performance. The 

review also aims to provide organisational alignment in ensuring that the monitoring 

of overall ambition and the delivery of core services is monitored.  

Background 

A holistic review of our Corporate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) has been long 

suggested. In line with ambitions for the financial year 2022/23, a review of our 

indicators has taken place. The Council’s existing KPIs have been set for numerous 

years and have only seen minor tweaks during that time. The KPI listing does give a 

fair overview of Council performance but there are some omissions due to the 

Council’s changing ambitions and the changing national position. Whilst some 

indicators do focus on business-as-usual service, it is important to remember that the 

performance of these functions is critical to allowing the Council to deliver its 

ambitious projects and initiatives.  

The Council currently reports performance against its full list of indicators on a 

quarterly basis through Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel and Cabinet. The 

Council’s quarterly performance reporting process allows for the escalation of 

service performance indicators (SPIs) through the Executive Summary Reports and 

the review has made recommendations on SPIs direct to the relevant Executive 

Heads. Performance against a reduced list of indicators is reported to Cabinet 

Members and LAC Chairs on a monthly basis. The review has considered the full list 

of indicators and a discussion will be required with Cabinet to determine whether the 

reduced list of indicators needs expansion.  

Methodology 

Where possible, feedback received prior to the beginning of the review was compiled 

and incorporated into the review process. Numerous discussions were carried out 

with Executive Heads, Service Managers and Portfolio Holders. Commentary from 

the Strategic Planning team was sought as well as from other members of staff 

involved in the Council’s performance monitoring process 

Existing KPIs were reviewed, and a recommendation was made to either, keep, alter 

or remove the indicator. New additions to the corporate KPI listing were considered 

based on the Council’s ambitions, feedback received and on occasion, existing 

statutory reporting. During discussions, recommendations for service performance 

indicators (SPIs) were also made, some of which will be escalated through the 

quarterly performance reporting (ESRs) throughout 2022/23 

Strategic Alignment 

The Corporate KPI listing focuses on the delivery of statutory or business as usual 

services, however, efforts have been made to align measures to the Council’s 

strategic direction. With that said, the review acknowledges the existing governance 

89



APPENDIX 1 

arrangements through project and delivery boards. KPIs are an element of 

performance reporting and wider narrative through the quarterly Executive Summary 

Reports will expand upon the data to more holistically report on performance.    

Threshold Changes 

Due to the length of time passed since an overall review, many of the existing 

thresholds are out of date. The notion of making an amendment to a threshold does 

create a feeling of expectations being altered. However, where evidence shows that 

the position has been changed significantly or that thresholds are unachievable, 

changes have been carefully considered and proposed.  

Recommended Changes 

Appendix A details the full listing of KPIs, and the recommendation is shown within 

column F with commentary in columns G, H and I. For ease of reading, the changes 

recommended are detailed below along with any supporting commentary 

Alterations 

KPI Alteration  Reason for Alteration 

Repeat missed bins within same 
month by household (number, and 
as percentage of all missed bins) 
Altered to 
Households where total missed 
collections is more than two in the 
last 6 months 
 

KPI Re-
worked and 
new 
thresholds 

It is proposed that the existing 
measure is replaced with a 
more robust indicator showing 
a similar output.  

NO2 concentration at monitoring 
site with highest level (average for 
year to date in ugm-3) 
Altered to 
NO2 concentration across the 
combined average of all four air 
quality management areas 
(AQMAs) (rolling 12 month) 

KPI Re-
worked and 
new 
thresholds 
 

As it is not possible to get 
reliable data at all individual 
sites it is proposed that 
information from diffusion tubes 
from across the 4 AQMAs is 
utilised instead. The 
performance of each individual 
AQMA will be broken down 
within reporting.  
 
 

Participation in Arts and Culture 
activities (number, and % of target) 
Altered to 
Throughput in Arts and Culture 
activities (number, and % of target) 

KPI Re-
worked 
 

Wording alteration for 
consistency across Health and 
Wellbeing. No change to the 
reporting metrics 
 

Visitors to Itchen Valley Country 
Park (number, and % of variable 
monthly target) 
Altered to 
Itchen Valley Annual Throughput 
(number, and % of variable monthly 

KPI Re-
worked 
 

Wording alteration for 
consistency across Health and 
Wellbeing. No change to the 
reporting metrics 
 

90



APPENDIX 1 

target) 

CSC – Customer interactions 
resolved at first point of contact (%) 
Altered to 
CSC - Customer calls resolved at 
first point of contact (%) 

KPI Re-
worded 

The alteration in wording 
reflects what this indicator 
measures (FPOC % for calls 
and not all interactions) 

Throughput at HealthWorks 
sessions (number)  

Thresholds 
Updated 

Thresholds amended based on 
COVID uncertainties and 
staffing  

Attendance at SportWorks sessions 
(number 

Thresholds 
Updated 

Thresholds amended based on 
COVID uncertainties 

Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh 
(number) 

Thresholds 
Updated 

Thresholds amended based on 
COVID uncertainties 

Council Tax - Customers with 
outstanding account queries older 
than 15 days (number) 
Green = less than 200 (unchanged) 
Amber = less than 500 (was less 
than 400) 
Red = 500 or more (was 400 or 
more) 
 

Thresholds 
Updated  

Thresholds updated to reflect 
historic performance and 
increased demand. The 
percentage of queries 
outstanding versus the total 
bills issued will also be 
included this year. E.g., 600 
queries = 1% of total bills 
issued 

Customer-reported missed bins - 
refuse & recycling only (number, 
and as percentage of all bins 
collected) 
Green = less than 350 (was less 
than 300) 
Amber = less than 450 (was less 
than 350) 
Red = 450 or more (was 350 or 
more) 
 

Thresholds 
Updated 
 

With population and property 
growth, along with an 
increasing number of 
collections (fortnightly glass), it 
is recommended that the 
threshold for this indicator is 
altered to a more realistic 
target 

Businesses supported (number per 
month and YTD) including Wessex 
House and Platform4 Business 
Green = 180 or more for year (or 15 
or more per month) (was Green = 
1,000 or more for year) 
Amber = Between 150-180 per year 
(or between 12-15 per month) 
(Addition) 
Red = less than 150 for year (or 
less than 12 per month) (was less 
than 1,000 per year) 

Thresholds 
Updated 

Thresholds lowered due to the 
stopping of government COVID 
grant payments 

Council Tax collected (cumulative 
percentage) 

Thresholds 
Updated 
 

Thresholds updated to 
measure performance against 
2021/22 rather than 2019/20 
due to length of time passed. 
2021/22 considered a new 

91



APPENDIX 1 

“normal” 

Non-domestic Rates (NDR – 
business rates) collected 
(cumulative percentage) 

Thresholds 
Updated 
 

Thresholds updated to 
measure performance against 
2021/22 rather than 2019/20 
due to length of time passed. 
2021/22 considered a new 
“normal” 

 

Additions 

KPI Reason for Addition  

The percentage of high-risk (A/B) 
premises inspections completed within 
one month when due 

An indicator of performance within the 
commercial team of Environmental 
Health. A/B rating refers to premises 
deemed to be of highest risk and as 
such, need timelier inspections 

The percentage of planning responses 
provided by Ecology within 14 days 

The Ecology team have a strong guiding 
role, and this is a core activity which 
provides insight into overall team 
performance 

Gas usage per square meterage 
(weather corrected) 

Considering the strong Climate and 
Environmental Emergency focus, this 
indicator provides the visibility of a large 
EBC emission and allows for further 
narrative to be shared. 

Electric usage per square meterage Considering the strong Climate and 
Environmental Emergency focus, this 
indicator provides the visibility of a large 
EBC emission and allows for further 
narrative to be shared. 

Fuel usage via the Hedge End Depot Considering the strong Climate and 

Environmental Emergency focus, this 

indicator provides the visibility of a large 

EBC emission and allows for further 

narrative to be shared. In addition, this 

will highlight progress against the 

movement to a more sustainable fleet 

Net rent collected as % of total net rent 
demanded for all Corporation Estate 

This in year measure will provide an 
overall sense of recovery for the 
Council’s corporation estate 

Number of RIDDOR incidents per 100 
employees (to include consultants, 
temps, casual staff), per annum 

In line with the Council’s Health and 
Safety responsibilities, this provides 
visibility of the Council’s H&S 
performance 

1s and 2s Planning Enforcement case 
determination within target (1s = 30 
days, 2s = 90 days) 

The area of Planning Enforcement is not 
represented and carries a large amount 
of public interest. This measure will 
provide a good overview of area 
performance. Priority 1 and 2 refers to 

92



APPENDIX 1 

the Council’s planning enforcement 
priorities as per the Local Enforcement 
Policy of 2019. (1 = Danger to the public? 
Direct and potentially irreversible harm? 
And 2 = Potential to escalate and cause 
serious harm to the environment? 
Contentious) 

3s and 4s Planning Enforcement case 
determination within 42 days 

As above, however this focuses more on 
the service delivered via Local Area 
Services on Planning’s behalf. Priority 3 
and 4 refers to the Council’s planning 
enforcement priorities as per the Local 
Enforcement Policy of 2019. (3 = Loss of 
amenity? Other breaches likely to remain 
stable And 4 = Minor breaches Private 
dispute? Other issues) 

% Of Housing Enforcement service 
requests which received a site visit 

This measure will provide a good 
overview as to the performance of the 
Housing Standards team 

RAG performance against the delivery 
of obligations for the “O” (operators) 
licence 

This function is critical to enable the 
Council to maintain services and this 
indicator will allow for greater awareness 
of any resulting action that may be 
required A red, amber or green score 
banding is provided by the DVSA (Driver 
and Vehicle Standards Agency) based on 
the Council’s performance as a licence 
operator. The score is affected by 
roadside vehicle checks, MOT results, 
remote enforcement checks and the 
outcome of site visits from DVSA 

ELAC Pay and Display Ticket Sales and 
Income (Number and % Comparison to 
2019/20) 

COVID-19 has brought the parking 
position into further focus and the 
combined ELAC pay and display ticket 
sales information provides a good insight 
into the overall performance across the 
Borough. It avoids potential anomalies 
from highs and lows such as car parking 
at IVCP 

 

Removals (see recommendation 3) 

KPI Reason for Removal  

CSC – Interactions handled (average 
number per working day) * 

To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a 
context indicator 

New benefit (Council Tax or Housing 
Benefit) claims received (number) 

To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a 
context indicator 

Businesses registered to pay rates 
(number) 

To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a 
context indicator 

93



APPENDIX 1 

Cases raised across all service areas 
(number) 

To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a 
context indicator 

Cases raised via the Members’ Hub 
(number) 

To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a 
context indicator 

Attendance at The Point and Berry 
Theatres (% of capacity) 

Replaced by “Throughput in Arts and 
Culture activities (number, and % of 
target)” 

Further Recommendations 

1. To ensure that the future emerging ambitions of the Council are reflected, it is 

recommended that an annual review of the Corporate KPI listing is 

undertaken, with changes proposed, approved and implemented in readiness 

for the start of the new financial year alongside the annual strategic cycle. 

2. To provide context, there are several workload information indicators within 

the listing. The indicators do not demonstrate the quality of performance, but 

rather the volume. It is recommended that the Corporate KPI listing only 

features output performance indicators. 

3. It is recognised that workload/context information does provide valuable 

insight and so the Council should expand upon the amount of supplementary 

information it provides. It is recommended that a list of supporting context 

indicators is produced and reported alongside the listing of performance 

indicators on a monthly and annual basis, a drafted example can be seen in 

Appendix 2.  

4. The Climate and Environmental Emergency is a clear priority for the Council 

and as such it’s recommended that three new additions are made to the 

listing. This will provide the platform for wider commentary on progress in 

relation to the C&EE to be made.  

5. It is recognised that despite making a significant number of additions, there 

are services and activities not represented. The delivery of local projects is a 

key focus for the Council and as such an overall indicator could be 

considered. However, at this time, the monitoring provided by the internal 

governance of the Council has been deemed to be sufficient. The reporting 

against project delivery will also continue to feature through the quarterly ESR 

performance reporting process and via internal project boards.  

6. Further, there are several measures that couldn’t be addressed at this time 

but have been captured for consideration in a future review. These include a 

measure focused on the Council’s Fly-Tipping enforcement action, a suite of 

measures focused on the Housing programme and a more robust measure 

highlighting progress against the climate and environmental emergency.  

7. Where much of the delivery of an output rests with Customer Care, 

performance should be reported by that service area. This reflects the 

responsibilities involved and would allow for more context through the 

narrative provided  

8. Similarly, direct performance against the Corporate Action Plan is critical. 

There is comfort with the existing level of monitoring through the quarterly 

performance process and ad-hoc reporting through P&P and Cabinet, but it 

should be more heavily emphasised through a change to the report template.  

94



APPENDIX 1 

9. The majority of the corporate KPIs are quantitative. Qualitative data is by its 

nature, takes more time to compile and analyse. However, the Council should 

look to introduce more measures focused on qualitative data that is available, 

including customer feedback through future annual reviews 

10. In line with the Council’s Case Management ambitions, the Case 

Management System should be used to capture feedback post case 

completion. The capability should be requested, and it could be trialled 

through internal cases and cases raised via the members hub.  

11. Furthermore, the Council should utilise comparative data from other Local 

Authorities that is available to provide further performance context (e.g., LG 

Inform). With that said, it is important that comparisons are used carefully, and 

the data selected offers a fair like-for-like comparison.  

12. Given the quantity of measures monitored, it’s recommended that the 

proposed listing is referred to as the Council’s corporate performance 

indicators rather than key performance indicators.  

95



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Theme Executive / Service Area KPI Better = KPI thresholds Status

Review Comments

Environment Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services Collected domestic waste recycled (%) ↑ Green = 45% or more

Amber = less than 45%

Red = less than 42.4%

Keep

Environment Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services Customer-reported missed bins - refuse & recycling only (number, and as 

percentage of all bins collected)

↓ Green = less than 300

Amber = less than 350

Red = 350 or more

Alter Alter threshold considering number of new properties in the borough - 

Recommend 

Green - less than 350

Amber - less than 450

Red - 450 or more

Environment Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services Repeat missed bins within same month by household (number, and as 

percentage of all missed bins)

Alter to

Households where total missed collections is more than two in the last 6 

months 

↓ Green = less than 15%

Amber = less than 25%

Red = 25% or more

Alter

Environment Environment: Environmental Nuisance (To be transferred to 

Customer Care: Delivery Case Management)

Noise nuisance requests responded to on time (% & actual number of 

requests)

↑ Green = 90% or more

Amber = less than 90%

Red = less than 75%

Keep

Economy Finance & Housing Programme: Council Tax Council Tax collected (cumulative percentage) ↑ Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 2019/20

Alter Thresholds Updated to

Green = within 1% of 2021/22

Amber = within 2% of 2021/22

Red = more than 2% lower than 2021/22

Economy Finance & Housing Programme: Business Rates Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business rates) collected (cumulative 

percentage)

↑ Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 2019/20

Alter Thresholds Updated to

Green = within 1% of 2021/22

Amber = within 2% of 2021/22

Red = more than 2% lower than 2021/22

Economy Customer Care: Delivery Case Management Council Tax - Customers with outstanding account queries older than 15 

days (number)

↓ April 2020 onwards:

Green = less than 200

Amber = less than 500

Red = 500 or more

Alter Thresholds updated to reflect historic performance and increased 

demand (400 to 500). The percentage of queries outstanding  versus 

the total bills issued will also be included this year. E.g. 600 queries = 

1% of total bills issued

Reported to Cabinet Members and LAC Chairs on a Monthly Basis

97



Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Housing Needs & Homelessness Households on housing register (number) ↓ No target

[Av. 2018/19 = 1,845; 2019/20 = 1,774; 2020/21 = 1,884]

Keep

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Housing Needs & Homelessness Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 properties (months) ↓ Green = 36.7 or less

Red = more than 36.7

Keep

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Housing Needs & Homelessness Households staying in emergency accommodation arranged by the 

Council (number)*

[Before 4/2021: Homeless cases prevented through intervention of 

housing advice (number)]

↓ Green = less than 4 households

Amber = less than 9 households

Red = 9 or more households

Keep

Health & wellbeing Customer Care: Delivery Case Management New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) claims received (number) ↔ No target (workflow indicator) Remove Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control 

and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload 

context indiciator

Health & wellbeing Customer Care: Delivery Case Management Time to process new benefit (Council Tax Support & Housing Benefit) 

claims (days)

↓ Green = less than 22 days

Amber = less than 26 days

Red = 26 days or more

Keep

Health & wellbeing Customer Care: Delivery Case Management Time to process benefit (Council Tax Support & Housing Benefit) change 

events (days)

↓ Green = less than 9 days

Amber = less than 11 days

Red = 11 days or more

Keep

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Housing Standards Proportion of DFGs decided within 6 months of the application 

submission date*

↑ Green = 75% or more 

Amber = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

Keep

Planning & Property Planning & Economy: Development Management Major planning applications processed within statutory timeframe (%, 

and actual numbers)

↑ Green = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

Keep

Planning & Property Planning & Economy: Development Management Minor planning applications processed within statutory timeframe (%, 

and actual numbers)

↑ Green = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%

Keep

Planning & Property Planning & Economy: Development Management Other planning applications processed within statutory timeframe (%) ↑ Green = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

Keep

Planning & Property Planning & Economy: Development Management Planning appeals allowed as a proportion of all planning application 

decisions (%, and actual number of appeals and decisions)

↓ Green = less than 10%

Red = 10% or more

Keep

Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, and actual number of complaints) ↓ Green =  25% or less 

Red = more than 25%

Keep

Organisation Customer Care: Customer Service Centre CSC - Interactions handled (average number per working day)* ↔ No target (workflow indicator) Remove Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control 

and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload 

context indiciator

Organisation Customer Care: Customer Service Centre CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) ↑ Green = 85% or more

Amber = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

Keep

Organisation Organisational Development: HR Staff turnover (% of people voluntarily resigning cf. total headcount for 

rolling 12 month period)

↓ Green = 15% or less

Amber = 18% or less

Red = more than 18%

Keep

Theme Executive / Service Area KPI Better = KPI thresholds Status Comments

Environment Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services Collected domestic residual waste (Kg per household per month) ↓ Green = less than 35.5kg

Amber = less than 36.7kg

Red = 36.7kg or more

Keep 22/23 Target = 424.07kg per household per year = 35.3kg

23/24 Target = 401.87kg per household per year = 33.5kg

24/25 Target = 379.64kg per household per year = 31.6kg

25/26 Target = 361.66kg per household per year = 30.1kg

26/27 Target = 343.87kg per household per year = 28.7kg

27/28 Target = 326.42kg per household per year = 27.2kg

28/29 Target = 309.25kg per household per year = 25.8kg

29/30 Target = 292.41kg per household per year = 24.4kg

Reported Quarterly

98



Environment Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services Land Audit Management System (LAMS) score (% of non-acceptable 

rated inspections, & actual number of inspections)

↓ Green = 5% or less

Red = more than 5%

Keep

Environment Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services Clearing of fly-tipping completed on time (%, & actual number of 

incidents)

↑ Green = 95% or more

Amber = 90% or more

Red = less than 90%

Keep

Environment Environment: Environmental Nuisance NO2 concentration across the combined average of all four air quality 

management areas (AQMAs) (rolling 12 month)

↓ TBC Alter Suggested replacement to be a rolling 12 month combined average of 

all four air quality management areas (AQMAs). Thresholds are to be 

confirmed following trial of data.

Environment Environment: Commercial The percentage of high-risk (A/B) premises inspections completed within 

one month when due (rolling 12 month figure and includes number)

↑ Green = 90% or more

Amber = less than 90%

Red = less than 85%

New Addition *Food businesses are risk rated using the national Food Standards 

Agency framework and given a rating of A to E, with A representing 

the highest risk and E the lowest risk. The higher the risk, the more 

frequently the business receives a food hygiene inspection

Environment Environment: Ecology The percentage of planning responses provided by Ecology within 14 

days

↑ Green = 96% or more

Amber = 95% or less

Red = less than 90%

New Addition Further supplementary information regarding the Ecological state of 

the borough will be provided annually through the quarterly 

performance report process (ESR)

Environment Environment: Climate Change Gas usage per square meterage (weather corrected) ↓ Reduction as per the same month in the previous year

Green = Decrease

Red = Increase

New Addition Significant commentary will be required but this will achieve visibility. 

The following note will be added to the monitoring sheet "Figures are 

subject to seasonal changes and occupancy fluctuations"

Environment Environment: Climate Change Electric usage per square meterage ↓ Reduction as per the same month in the previous year

Green = Decrease

Red = Increase

New Addition Significant commentary will be required but this will achieve visibility. 

The following note will be added to the monitoring sheet "Figures are 

subject to seasonal changes and occupancy fluctuations"

Environment Environment: Climate Change Fuel usage via the Hedge End Depot ↓ Reduction as per the same month in the previous year

Green = Decrease

Red = Increase

New Addition Significant commentary will be required but this will achieve visibility. 

"Figures are subject to changes in property numbers through 

development and round changes"

Economy Planning & Economy: Economy & Business Development Businesses supported (number per month and YTD) including Wessex 

House and Platform4 Business

↑ Green = 1,000 or more for year 

Red = less than 1,000 for year 

Alter Thresholds to be altered. Proposed changes from Green = 1,000 or 

more for year, Red = less than 1,000 for year to Green = 180 or more 

for year (or 15 or more per month); Amber = Between 150-180 per 

year (or between 12-15 per month) and Red = less than 150 for year 

(or less than 12 per month) Change is due to the removal of COVID 

grant payments

Economy Finance & Housing Programme: Business Rates Businesses registered to pay rates (number) ↑ Target yet to be decided Remove Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control 

and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload 

context indiciator

99



Economy Planning & Economy: Economy & Business Development Occupancy rate for tenantable space at Eastleigh Business Centre* (%) ↑ Green = 75% or more

Amber = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%.

[Thresholds before 4/2020: Green = 84% or more; Amber = 

less than 84%; Red = less than 80%]

Keep

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Arts & Culture Attendance at The Point and Berry Theatres (% of capacity) ↑ No targets, while Covid restrictions apply.

[2019/20 thresholds:

Green = 50% or more

Amber = 40% or more

Red = less than 40%]

Remove Remove as its been replaced with the below, "Throughput in Arts and 

Culture activities (number, and % of target)"

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Arts & Culture Throughput in Arts and Culture activities (number, and % of target) ↑ Annual target 70,000 (2,500 per month)

Green = 5,833 (100%) or more 

Amber = 5,541 (95%) or more

Red = less than 5,249 (90%)

Alter Consistency required

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Country Parks Itchen Valley Annual Throughput (number, and % of variable monthly 

target)

↑ Variable monthly target

Green = 90% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

Alter Wording alteration for consistency across Health and Wellbeing

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Communities Throughput at HealthWorks sessions (number) ↑ Green = more than 85% 

Amber = more than 65% 

Red = 64% (900) or less

Alter Given the current staffing situation and ongoing uncertainties 

recommend reduc ing the 100% figure from 1050 to 900 in the 

2022/23 service plan to allow for recovery. 

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Communities Throughput at SportWorks sessions (number) ↑ Green = 2,800 or more

Amber = 2,400 or more 

Red = Less than 2,000

Alter

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Communities Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh (number) ↑ Green = 80,000 or more

Amber = 68,800 or more

Red = less than 68,800

Alter

Planning & Property Finance & Housing Programme: Housing Programme & 

Strategy  

Net additional homes delivered (number) ↑ Green = total 189 or more net dwellings per quarter 

Red = less than 189 net dwellings

Keep

Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Customer complaints (number) ↓ No target Keep

Organisation Customer Care: Customer Service Centre CSC - Customer calls resolved at first point of contact (%) ↑ Green = 60% or more

Amber = 50% or more

Red = less than 50%

Alter Wording change from "Customer Interactions" to "Customer Calls" to 

reflect the existing nature of the indicator. Aspiration is to grow this 

measure to include all methods of contact but currently the 

information cannot be reported against

Organisation Organisational Development: HR Corporate sickness (average number of working days lost due to sickness 

absence per employee per year)

↓ Green = less than 7 days

Amber = less than 7.5 days

Red = 7.5 days or more

Keep

Organisation Governance: Legal FOI / EIR requests responded to within SLA (%, and actual number of 

requests)

↑ Green = more than 90%

Amber = more than 85%

Red = 85% or less

Keep

Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Invoices paid within 10 days (%) ↑ Green = 75% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

Keep

Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Cases raised across all service areas (number) ↑ Green = 5,000 or more

Amber = less than 5,000

Red = less than 4,000

Remove Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control 

and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload 

context indiciator

Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Average case duration for cases raised across all service areas (working 

days)  

↓ Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

Keep

100



Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Cases raised via the Members' Hub (number) ↑ Green = 40 or more

Amber = less than 40

Red = less than 20

Remove Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control 

and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload 

context indiciator

Organisation Customer Care: Support Case Management Average case duration for cases raised via the Members' Hub (working 

days)  

↓ Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

Keep

Organisation Assets: Asset Management Net rent collected as % of total net rent demanded for all Corporation 

Estate

↑ Green 90% or more

Amber  76% - 89%

Red less than 75%

New Addition

Organisation Assets: Facilities - Health & Safety Number of RIDDOR incidents per 100 employees (to include consultants, 

temps, casual staff), per annum

↓ Green = -1.1 

Amber = 1.1 – 1.3

Red = 1.4 and above

New Addition

Planning & Property Planning & Economy: Planning Enforcement 1s and 2s Planning Enforcement case determination within target (1s = 

30 days, 2s = 90 days)

↑ Green - 80% of the target

Amber - 75% - 80%

Red - Less than 75%  

New Addition

Planning & Property Customer Care: Local Area Services 3s and 4s Planning Enforcement case determination within 42 days ↑ Green - 80% of the target

Amber - 75% - 80%

Red - Less than 75%  

New Addition

Health & wellbeing Health & Wellbeing: Housing Standards % of Housing Enforcement service requests which received a site visit ↑ Green: 	30% or above 

Amber:	15-30% 

Red:	below 15% 

New Addition

Transport Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services RAG performance against the delivery of obligations for the "O" 

(operators) licence 

↑ Green: Green Result

Amber: Amber Result

Red: Red Result

New Addition

Transport Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services ELAC Pay and Display Ticket Sales and Income (Number and % 

Comparison to 2019/20) 

↓ Green - Less than 30%

Amber - Between 30-35%

Red - More than 35% 

New Addition The Swan Centre ticket sales provides a good insight into the overall 

performance across the Borough and avoids potential anomalies from 

highs and lows such as car parking at IVCP. Thresholds to be 

confirmed 

101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Thursday 15 September 2022  

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - VEHICLE AND PLANT 
REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME 

Report of the of Executive Head Neighbourhood Services  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that   
 
(1) Cabinet approves the Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme detailed in 

Appendix 1, totalling £1,321,550, increasing the capital budget by £535,050 for 
financial year 2022/23 and £786,500 2023/24; and  

(2) the Corporate Director (CFO) and the Executive Head of Neighbourhood 
Services be given delegated authority to modify the replacement programme 
and for items to be amended in view of the current market volatility, within the 
financial approval limits given.  

 
 

Summary 
This report sets out the financial requirements for the ordering of replacement vehicles and 
plant over the next two years (2022/23 and 2023/24 financial years). 
 
The report shows that modification to the vehicle replacement programme within the 
agreed budget may be required due to changes in operational requirements. 
 
Statutory Powers 
Local Government Act 2003 Section 16 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report provides the framework for the procurement of all vehicles, plant 
and mechanical equipment operated and required by the Council to deliver its 
services for 2022/23 and 2023/24. 

2. A revised approach is being adopted to vehicle replacement, incorporating the 
advice given by the Climate Change Manager.  In summary this approach has 
four key principles:  

 Replace: buy new electric vehicles to replace ICE vehicles where 
models are available and can deliver service requirements. Electric 
supply will require ongoing monitoring to ensure there is sufficient 
supply available.  

103

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

 Repower: reduce the impact of embodied carbon by repowering 
existing (ICE) vehicles to electric rather than replacement with a new 
vehicle.  

 Reuse: purchase second-hand Internal Combustion Engine (ICE) 
vehicles when delivery times of new electric vehicles exceed service 
requirements or electric options are not available. These vehicles can 
be refurbished and repowered later; 

 Refurbish: extend the life of current vehicles when alternative electric 
models do not exist, cannot provide payloads required or are cost-
prohibitive (three to four times more expensive than the ICE 
equivalent); 

   
The replacement programme will align with Hampshire County Council’s 
planned recycling infrastructure in 2025 and the Environment Act 2021, which 
will require use of new or adapted waste vehicles (for example for food 
collection).  

Introduction 

3. The current fleet comprises 95 vehicles and more than 70 other pieces of 
equipment. These assets are vital for delivering high-profile statutory and 
income-generating services mainly within the Neighbourhood Services 
Executive Area.  

4. The automotive industry is facing considerable challenges due to the backlog 
caused by Covid shutdowns and a shortage of electrical components required 
for all new vehicles. Lead times for new vehicles are now commonly 9 to 12 
months after an order is placed; for that reason, the proposed programme will 
cover two financial years. This will also allow for changes that may be required 
for the Environment Bill and Hampshire County Councils changes to waste 
disposal infrastructure. In order to meet service demands the replacement 
programme includes the purchase of second-hand/ex-demonstration vehicles 
as the delivery time is much shorter (weeks).   

5. The proposed replacement programme seeks to replace those vehicles which 
are needed urgently to deliver Council services over until April 2024. Once the 
changes to the recycling infrastructure are known in detail, a long-term 
replacement programme will be developed. This will reflect the changes 
needed to deliver waste services and the transition to a low-carbon fleet.  

Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme 2022/23 and 2023/24 
(Recommendation 1 and 2) 

6. Since the last Vehicle Replacement Programme was agreed, the Transport 
Team has improved access to vehicle data; we utilise the most up to date 
telematics and safety systems to ensure that the equipment is fit-for-purpose 
in the mobile working environment.  We now want to build on this knowledge, 
and working closely with the Climate Change Manager, develop a programme 

104



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

which will support the transition to a fleet fuelled by electricity and 
hydrotreated vegetable oil (HVO). 
 

7. Appendix 1 sets out the proposed Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme 
(VRP) for 2022/23 and 2023/24, which is based on the outcome of the annual 
vehicle condition assessments required for all vehicles. 

8. This programme includes the procurement of one new electric vehicle, five 
vehicle refurbishments, three agricultural machines/street sweeper 
replacements, three new refuse collection vehicles with Internal Combustion 
Engines (ICE) and three second-hand refuse collection vehicles which we aim 
to repower after five years. Repowering is removing the original vehicle power 
train and replacing it with an electric power train. As part of this process the 
vehicle is stripped to the chassis and fully refurbished with the mechanical 
result being a nearly new vehicle.  

9. Currently the estimated cost of repowering a refuse collection vehicle is 
£300,000 (this is in addition to the original vehicle purchase price) This is 
lower than the current cost of a new electric refuse collection vehicle (circa 
£440,000). After repowering, a vehicle is expected to last for another 8 years. 
Repowering vehicles is a growing market, a condition assessment and whole-
life cost benefit analysis will be carried out to ensure that vehicles are suitable 
to be repowered. 

10. Medium-sized vehicles in the programme, such as the transit vans used by 
Streetscene, are currently hard to replace due to the lack of electric vehicles 
with a payload that is acceptable for the Council’s operations. Our Transit 
vans are primarily used to carry litter, fly-tipped waste and organic detritus, 
which is heavy particularly when wet. The current payload is approximately 
700kg including the required vehicle adaptions – cages, toolboxes, tail lift etc. 
By comparison, an EV tipper only offers 550kg, without the required 
adaptions. Operationally this means more unproductive time in trips to the tip. 
Therefore, the current fleet of Transit vans will have their life extended through 
refurbishment and be replaced with electric models after a further five years. It 
is likely that the payloads offered on electric vehicles will have improved by 
this time and that the purchase cost will reduce.  

Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme post 2023/24 

11. Hampshire County Council’s planned recycling infrastructure changes in 2025 
and the Environment Act 2021 will affect EBC operations. Council decisions 
relating to these overarching changes – yet to be taken – will be critical in 
shaping any future vehicle replacement programme. Subsequent papers will 
deal with the implications of these changes. Due to the versatility of the 
vehicles being recommended, none of the proposals in this report will 
disadvantage future fleet operations. 

 

 

105



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

 Financial Implications 

12. Alternative procurement options have been explored. Leasing/contract hire 
options have been discussed with our suppliers, but it is a more expensive 
option and does not fit with the principles for vehicle replacement as discussed 
above in paragraph 2. Leasing will not allow the environmentally friendly 
options of refurbishment and repowering. In addition, mileage limits and wear 
and tear clauses are applied to lease vehicles that are more expensive than 
in-house maintenance.  
 

13. The waste service currently has two 26t refuse collection vehicles on hire at a 
cost of £1970 per week. The approval of the VRP will mean that these 
vehicles can be off-hired.  
 
 

14. The Executive Head of Finance and Housing Programme has recommended 
funding the 2022/23 programme from capital receipts as this will remove the 
ongoing revenue budget implications of borrowing.   

15. Any increase in the cost of parts and external hire of vehicles due to delays in 
the delivery of new vehicles will be monitored as part of the quarterly 
Performance and Finance Report. 

16. A longer-term plan will be produced covering five years once Cabinet have 
decided upon alternative collection methods that will increase recycling and 
reuse rates in line with the requirements on the Environment Act. This will in 
turn determine the make-up of the Council's waste fleet.  

17. Any income from the disposal of vehicles and plant will be used to repay 
capital receipts used. The capital expenditure on vehicles and plant in the last 
five years is shown below. 

 
18. An additional £89,000 has been added to Recommendation 1 to cover the 

difference in cost of the electric refuse collection vehicles between initial 
quotation and the tender award.  

 
Legal Implications 
 
15 .     Procurement guidelines and financial limits will be used. We need to ensure 

sufficient budget is available for maintenance of older vehicles if the VRP is 
not approved, as the council has given legal undertakings under Operator 
Licensing laws.  Failure to meet these undertakings could result in fines, 
suspension of the operator’s licence or in the worst case the licence could be 
revoked; this would mean the council could not operate any vehicles over 3.5 
tonnes, whether owned, leased, or hired.  
  

Risk Assessment 

106



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

19. The Council risks not achieving its target of carbon neutrality for its operations 
by 2025 if it does not address significant areas of carbon emissions such as 
more sustainable options in procurement of vehicles. The Council has publicly 
committed, through its Climate Change Strategy, to transition its fleet. 
However, technology suitable for the Council’s operations is still developing. 
Therefore, purchasing vehicles with internal combustion engines and 
operating them on HVO, is the most appropriate way of working towards our 
climate goals currently. The option of repowering is being investigated.  

20. It is important to note that the current global financial situation has meant that 
HVO is considerably more expensive than when the decision to transition the 
fleet was made.   

21. As some existing fleet vehicles require urgent refurbishment or replacement, 
the Council risks not having a fleet that is suitable to fulfil its statutory 
obligations. Condition assessments have revealed significant degradation of 
some refuse collection and grounds maintenance vehicles. These vehicles 
perform high-profile Council functions such as refuse collection and litter, 
grounds maintenance and fly tipping removal. There is a reputational risk to 
not delivering these services to the public. 

22. By extending the life of vehicles there is a risk that repair materials budgets 
will be exceeded; however, in developing the strategy above in conjunction 
with the Climate Change Manager, this has been deemed an acceptable risk 
against that of the embodied carbon generated when producing new vehicles.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

23. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because:   

It is a report dealing with universal service requirements.  
 

Therefore, it is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not 
need to be addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not 
been carried out. 
 

24. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

The manufacture of any new vehicle will have an environmental impact 
regardless of fuel type through the mining and processing of natural 
resources, manufacturing of components, transportation of goods, operation 
of the vehicle, repair, maintenance, and disposal at the end of life.  
 
These proposals therefore strike a balance between minimising embodied 
carbon and the annual ongoing carbon impact of ICE vehicles as the sector 
undergoes a transition to lower-carbon fuel. 
 

107



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Conclusion 

25. This report seeks approval for additional £1,321,550 capital expenditure for 
the Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme, to be funded by capital 
receipts.  

 
TONI JOHNSON 

TECHNICAL SERVICES MANAGER 
 
Date: 7 August 2022 
Contact Officer: Toni Johnson 
Tel No: 023 80 688213 
e-mail: toni.johnson@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 
 

 
 
 

108



APPENDIX 1 - CONFIDENTIAL 

Recommended Vehicle Replacement Programme 22/23 and 23/24 

Vehicle to be 
replaced 

Use  Reason for 
Inclusion 

Preferred solution 
summary  

Life 
Extended 

Estimated 
Cost of 

recommen
dation   

LR62 YCD 26t 
Single Body 
Refuse 
Collection 
Vehicle   

Domestic 
Waste 
Collection  

Significant 
corrosion to 
body Cracked 
body floor. 
Carriage plate 
corroded 

Body requires 
overhaul to extend 
life  
 
Refurbishment 

 
5 years 

42,500 

HY59 NEU 15t 
Single Body 
Refuse Collection 
Vehicle 

Domestic 
Waste 
Rounds – 
Narrow 
Roads  

Body cracked 
both sides. 
Significant 
corrosion and 
wear on 
integral body 
parts. Chassis 
corroded. 

16T RCV Domestic 
lift. Tighter turning 
circle than existing 
 
New internal 
combustion engine 
(ICE) - no EV 
options available 

10 years  
(Refurb and 
repower in 
year 5) 

165,000 

HN09 HKE 26t 
Split Body 
Refuse 
Collection 
Vehicle  

Trade waste 
collection 

Vehicle 
disposed due 
to condition  

26 T Single Body 
RCV Bin Weighing 
Equipment/ Camera 
Trade Lifter  
 
Ex demo or Second 
Hand ICE due to 
delivery timescales 

10 years 
Refurb in 
year 5  

186,550 
plus 

£15,000 bin 
weighing 

DX63 XKY 12T 
Glass Collection 
Single Body RCV 

Trade waste 
collection 

Chassis 
heavily 
corroded.  
Ongoing issue 
with rear 
suspension 
leaf spring. 
H&S concerns 
with 
configuration.  

26 T Bin Weighing 
Equipment/Camera 
Trade Lifter  
 
Second Hand ICE 
due to delivery 
timescales 

10 years 
Refurb in 
year 5  

145,000 

4 no transit vans 
will be 
refurbished in 
22/23 @ £8k each 

Grounds 
Maintenance 
Boroughwide  

Various issues 
with 
corrosion/wear. 

Overhaul cab/body 
treat corrosion, 
renew worn 
mechanical parts 
 
Refurbishment 

5 years 
extended life 
to allow 
market to 
develop.  

32,000 

HX07 HUV 6.5t 
flatbed tipper for 
carrying 
construction 
materials 

Construction  Hole in chassis 
floor. Corrosion 
to bulkhead 
(structural) 

Tipper suitable for 
carrying 1+ ton 
tarmac 
 
Second Hand ICE  

10 years 25,000 

Toro Mid Deck 
Mower used for 
meadow grass 
and large scale 
grounds 
maintenance 

Contracted 
Grounds 
Maintenance 

Required for 
OHH grounds 
maintenance 
work                

Ransomes HR380 
out-front mower    
 
New ICE– No EV 
options available  

8 years  28,000 

109



Hako - small 
street sweeper 
for town centre 
work. 

Street 
Cleansing 
Town 
Centre 

Beyond 
economical 
repair. 

Multevo/Multihog 
Manoeuvrable on 
narrow town centre 
pavements, good 
payload, high 
pressure washing 
facility 
 
New ICE, when on 
demo EV had 
insufficient 
payload/waste 
capacity 

8 years 80,000 

HX13 CXN 26t 
split body RCV  

Garden 
Waste Round 
4 

Unsuitable due 
to obsolete pod 
and axle 
weight issues. 
Corroded body 

26T Rotopress 
 
New ICE – awaiting 
release of original 
equipment 
manufacturer 
(OEM) EV options 
in 2023. These will 
need to be properly 
trailed. 

8 years with 
optional 
repowering in 
year 5  

220,000 

VN13 EUC 15t 
single body RCV 
used for narrow 
access rounds 

Domestic and 
Recycling for 
Narrow roads 
and farms 

Ongoing 
electrical and 
hydraulic faults  

16T RCV Domestic 
lift. Tighter turning 
circle than existing 
 
New ICE – no EV 
options available 

10 years  
Refurb and 
repowering 
year 5 

165,000 

AK16 XPY 
Tractor  

Grounds 
Maintenance 
– Fleming 
Park 

Complete 
mechanical 
failure  

JOHN DEERE 
4066R Compact 
Utility Tractor MY20 
 
New ICE – no EV 
options available 

12 45,000 

GU11 KKA 3.5t 
Luton Van  

Clinical and 
Bulky Waste 
Collection  

Oil and coolant 
leaks requiring 
expensive 
maintenance. 
High milage. 
Hole in floor.  

Electric  
 
New 

10 years  
Condition 
Assessment 
year 5  

83,500 

 
Total   £1,232,550 

 

 Note the estimated costs are at June 2022 prices 

 Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) with Euro V engines (currently 6 in the fleet), will be replaced first due 
to their high emissions and unsuitability for repowering.  

 
 

 

110


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Approval of new Body Worn Video Policy
	Annex 1_Corporate Policy and Procedures for use of Body Warn Videos
	Annex 2_BWV Policy Appendices 1-8
	Annex 3_BWV Policy Appendix 5 - BWV Staff User Guide
	Annex 4_BWV Policy Appendix 6 BWV Third Party Data Sharing Register
	Annex 5_BWV Policy Appendix 7 BWV SAR Checklist
	Annex 6_BWV Policy Appendix 8 BWV Training Register
	Annex 7_Equality Impact Assessment

	6 Corporate KPI Review 2022/23
	Appendix. 1 for Corporate KPI Review 202223
	Appendix. 2 for Corporate KPI Review 202223

	7 Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme 2022/23
	Vehicle Replacement App 1


